
Summons to Meeting

Thursday 7 December 2017

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Friday 15 December 2017, 10.00 am

The Conference Room, St Michael's Church, 
Workington

Membership:

Councillor Alan Pitcher (Chair) Councillor Janet Farebrother (Co-Chair)
Councillor Joseph Cowell Councillor Bill Finlay
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Hilary Harrington
Councillor Joe Holliday Councillor Billy Miskelly
Councillor Jim Osborn Councillor Bill Pegram
Councillor Celia Tibble Councillor Martin Wood

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Ian Hinde on 01900 702544.

Agenda
1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 6)

To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 3 November 
2017.

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda, in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

Page 1



4. Questions  
To answer questions from members of the public – submitted in writing or by 
electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the meeting.

5. Public Participation  
To hear representations from members of the public on items which appear on 
the agenda – submitted in writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 
working days before the meeting.

6. Housing Enforcement Policy  (Pages 7 - 34)

7. Changes to staffing structures  (Verbal Report)

8. Report of Tackling Poverty Task and Finish Group  (Pages 35 - 78)

9. Forward Plan  (Pages 79 - 88)

10. Task and Finish Group updates  (Verbal Report)

11. Work programme  (Pages 89 - 94)

Chief Finance Officer

Date of Next Meeting:

Friday 26 January 2018, 10.00 am
Council Chamber, Allerdale House

Page 2



At a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in The Conference Room, 
St Michael's Church, Workington on Friday 3 November 2017 at 10.00 am

Members

Councillor Janet Farebrother (Chair) Councillor Alan Pitcher (Co-Chair)
Councillor Joseph Cowell Councillor Bill Finlay
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Hilary Harrington
Councillor Joe Holliday Councillor Billy Miskelly
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor Celia Tibble

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Jim Osborn and Councillor Martin 
Wood

Staff Present

D Devine, A FitzGerald, N Hardy and I Hinde

207. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 29 September 2017 were signed as a 
correct record.

208. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

209. Questions 

None received.

210. Public Participation 

None received.

211. Allerdale Borough Council Business Growth Strategy - supporting report, 
considering the skills agenda in Allerdale 

C Ivison, Head of Skills and Employment at the Cumbria Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) provided Members with a presentation on the LEP, covering:

 How the LEP was delivering the Cumbrian Strategic Economic Plan 
2014-2024.

 Skills development – future job demand and qualifications needed in 
Cumbria and the work the LEP was carrying out to address this demand.

 The future work force of Cumbria – how the LEP was working to address 
unemployment and achieve a higher level skills base.

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Members asked a number of questions about job prospects, training providers, 
employers’ perspectives and the local job market. The presentation and 
question and answer sessions provided members with a good understanding of 
the context around skills and employment and the programmes in place to 
address the issues. The Committee agreed that there was a follow on piece of 
work to consider what interventions were being undertaken to address the 
issues primarily through the European Structural Fund (ESF) programmes.

Councillor C Tibble left the meeting.

Members asked that the Head of Skills and Employment at the Cumbria LEP 
provide an update on the ESF programmes and the partnership’s work at a 
future Committee meeting. The Acting Scrutiny Officer agreed to arrange this.

Agreed

That the Acting Scrutiny Officer arrange for the Head of Skills and Employment 
at the Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership to provide an update on the ESF 
programmes and the partnership’s work at a future Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting.

212. Scrutiny of the 2018-2019 Budget Setting Process - Appointment of a Task 
and Finish Group 

Councillor C Tibble returned to the meeting.

The Acting Scrutiny Officer submitted a report which sought the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to establish a Task and Finish Group to monitor the 
Council’s budget setting process.

Members agreed to establish the Task and Finish Group, made up of the 
following Members:

 Councillor B Finlay (Chair)
 Councillor C Armstrong
 Councillor P Bales
 Councillor J Cowell
 Councillor J Farebrother
 Councillor M Fitzgerald
 Councillor P Tibble

The Terms of Reference set out in section 3.1 of the report were agreed.

Members agreed the recommendations in the report.

Agreed

That:

1. A Task and Finish Group be established to consider the budget setting 
process.

Page 4



2. Councillor B Finlay be appointed as Chair of the Task and Finish Group 
and be responsible for managing the group and reporting its findings to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

3. The membership of the Task and Finish Group be agreed as follows:

 Councillor B Finlay (Chair)
 Councillor C Armstrong
 Councillor P Bales
 Councillor J Cowell
 Councillor J Farebrother
 Councillor M Fitzgerald
 Councillor P Tibble

4. The Task and Finish Group identify additional co-opted Members at the 
scoping stage.

5. The Terms of Reference of the Task and Finish Group be agreed as 
follows:

 To perform the overview and scrutiny role in relation to the proposed 
Allerdale Borough Council budget for the 2018-2019 financial year.

 To report risks or threats that, in the view of the Task and Finish 
Group, may hinder the Council in achieving its objectives in delivering 
the Council Plan to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 
consideration.

 To similarly report any suggestions for efficiencies or savings for 
consideration.

6. The Task and Finish Group follow the agreed Terms of Reference and 
keep the Overview and Scrutiny Committee updated.

7. The Task and Finish Group scope the piece of work applying the scoping 
exercise template.

8. The Task and Finish Group report its findings, conclusions and 
recommendations to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

213. Forward Plan 

Members noted the Forward Plan.

Members did not consider they had received enough information about the 
Department for Communities and Local Government consultation taking place 
regarding the introduction of a national methodology to assess housing need 
and asked if a bulletin for councillors could be made available with items of 
interest, such as this. The Head of Economic Growth agreed to look into this.

Councillors B Finlay, M Grainger and B Miskelly left the meeting.

Page 5



214. Task and Finish Group/Working Group Updates 

The Acting Scrutiny Officer provided an update on the Tackling Poverty Task 
and Finish Group. The group planned to meet later in November to sign off the 
draft Allerdale Tackling Poverty Strategy and Action Plan. The group’s final 
report was to be considered at the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting in 
December, following which it would be taken to the Executive.

The Community Services Task and Finish Group was arranging a visit to 
Cumbria Waste Hespin Wood to understand the process around waste 
management.

The Performance Task and Finish Group had met once for an information 
gathering session. The Leader of the Council and the Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate Resources (Finance and Property) had attended and were invited to 
attend the next meeting.

215. Work Programme and Outcomes Monitoring 

Members noted the Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 2017-18.

The Acting Scrutiny Officer was asked to include an item on the Work 
Programme to do with Members’ tablet devices. Members wanted to know how 
the project was progressing and asked to be provided with a presentation on it. 
The Committee agreed that it would be useful to have an informal planning 
session to discuss progress on the Work Programme and future Work 
Programme items.

The meeting closed at 12.25 pm

Page 6



Allerdale Borough Council

Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 15 December 2017

Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy Update

The Reason for the Decision To provide members with an update on 
work to revise the existing Private Sector 
Housing Enforcement Policy.

Summary of options considered Options for the adoption of additional 
legislation are set out in the report.

Recommendations The Committee is asked to recieve the 
the report and the information provided.

The Committee provide any comments 
on the possible approaches being 
considered.

Financial /  Resource Implications Financial and resource implications 
relating to the adoption of this policy are 
set out in the report.

Legal / Governance Implications Legal implications relating to the 
adoption of this policy are set out in the 
report.

Community Safety Implications The adoption of additional enforcement 
powers as proposed would give the 
Council further tools with which to 
address poor housing standards and 
reduce associated crime and anti-social 
behaviour.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

There are no additional risk management 
implications arising from adopting this 
policy.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

The revised policy will assist officers in 
seeking to improve housing conditions. 
This will have a beneficial impact in 
improving the quality of life for many 
vulnerable people across the Borough.

Wards Affected All wards.

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

The policy supports the drive to improve 
health and wellbeing, tackle inequality 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



and enhance our towns.

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes

Lead Officer Emma Bundock
Private Sector Housing Manager
01900 702663
emma.bundock@allerdale.gov.uk 

Report Implications

Community Safety Y Financial Y
Legal Y Partnership Y
Social Inclusion Y Asset Management N
Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N
Employment (internal) Y/N Employment 

(external to the Council)
N

Background Papers

Draft Allerdale Borough Council Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2017

1.0 Introduction

1.1 This report is to provide members with a general update on work to revise the 
existing Private Sector Housing (PSH) Enforcement Policy.

1.2 The PSH Enforcement Policy sets out the way in which the Council intends to        
secure effective compliance with legislation to ensure that all private sector 
housing within the Borough is healthy, well managed and safe.

1.3 The Council’s existing PSH Enforcement Policy was adopted in 2004 and 
does not reflect current legislation, which has granted officers additional 
enforcement powers in relation to the private rented sector.

1.4 The Council has a statutory duty and powers to deal with poor housing 
conditions. Where required, the new enforcement powers will be used and the 
new policy will provide a clear framework in which to do this.

1.5 In conjunction with this, we are taking the opportunity to review our 
procedures in order to allow officers to concentrate on more proactive 
enforcement work.

Page 8

mailto:emma.bundock@allerdale.gov.uk


1.6 We also plan to make greater use of IT platforms such as the Allerdale 
Borough Council website and the My Allerdale App to create a more 
streamlined customer experience.

2.0 Overview of legislation to be adopted – Housing and Planning Act 2016

2.1 Civil Penalties

2.1.1 The Housing and Planning Act 2016 introduced a number of amendments to 
the Housing Act 2004. Since 6 April 2017, local housing authorities have had 
the power to impose civil penalties of up to £30,000, as an alternative to 
prosecution for the following offences under the Housing Act 2004 (as 
amended):

a) Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (section 30);
b) Offences in relation to licensing of HMOs (section 72);
c) Offences in relation to licensing of houses under Part 3 of the Act 

(section 95);
d) Offences of contravention of an overcrowding notice (section 139);
e) Failure to comply with management regulations in respect of HMOs 

(section 234);

2.1.2 The same criminal standard of proof is required for a civil penalty as for a 
criminal prosecution. This means that before a civil penalty can be imposed, 
the Council must be satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that the landlord 
committed the offence(s) and that if the matter were to be prosecuted in the 
magistrates’ court, there would be a realistic prospect of conviction.

2.1.3 We are proposing to adopt the use of civil penalties as we believe that it will 
provide the Council with a more cost-effective and proportionate alternative to 
prosecution for specified housing offences, whilst retaining the option to 
prosecute for the most serious housing offences.

2.1.4 The use of civil penalties will not only prevent unscrupulous and irresponsible 
landlords from profiting from letting unsafe properties, but it will also 
demonstrate the Council’s commitment to ensuring that it is offenders (rather 
than responsible landlords or the local council tax payers) who pay for the 
cost of housing enforcement.

2.1.5 A statutory framework for the implementation and use of civil penalties by 
local housing authorities has been published by the Department of 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG). This states that local housing 
authorities are expected to develop and document their own procedure on 
when to prosecute and when to impose a civil penalty.

2.1.6 Local housing authorities are also required to document their own policy on 
determining the appropriate level of civil penalty to be imposed.

2.1.7 As a result of this, we are developing a PSH Civil Penalties Policy which will 
be designed to ensure transparency, consistency and fairness in how and 

Page 9



when civil penalties are imposed. This policy will take into account statutory 
guidance and should be read in conjunction with the Council’s PSH 
Enforcement Policy.

2.1.8 Those persons upon whom a notice of civil penalties is served can appeal to 
the First Tier Property Tribunal both in respect of the decision to issue any 
fixed penalty and in respect of the amount imposed. The Tribunal has the 
power to confirm, vary (increase or reduce) or cancel the civil penalty imposed 
by the local housing authority. It is therefore important that the Council 
produces a robust policy in accordance with the DCLG Guidance and 
legislative provisions.

2.1.9 It is proposed that this policy will include a methodology to be used as a guide 
by enforcement officers to set the civil penalty at an appropriate level, based 
upon the individual circumstances of the case. This methodology will be used 
to provide transparency and aid consistency in the enforcement process. 

2.1.10 A number of factors will be taken into consideration when setting the level of 
fine. These are:

a) Severity of the offence;
b) Culpability and track record of the offender;
c) The level of harm caused to the tenant;
d) Punishment of the offender;
e) Deterring the offender from repeating the offence;
f) Deterring others from committing similar offences;
g) Removing any financial benefit the offender may have obtained because 

of committing the offence.

2.1.11 Income received from a civil penalty can be retained by the local housing 
authority, provided it is used solely to further the local authority’s statutory 
function in relation to their enforcement activities covering the private rented 
sector.

2.1.12 It is likely that there will be a significant number of appeals against any civil 
penalties imposed. Additional legal costs may be incurred as part of the 
Council being the respondent to any appeals against the issued civil 
penalties.

2.1.13 We believe civil penalties will act as a powerful deterrent for those landlords 
who might otherwise have considered that the financial benefits of non-
compliance outweighed the risk of enforcement action against them. They 
enable the Council to penalise the worst landlords by direct economic 
sanctions. We believe that this will lead to greater levels of compliance and 
improved housing standards across the Borough.

2.2 Rent Repayment Orders

2.2.1 A rent repayment order is an order made by the First Tier Tribunal requiring a 
landlord to repay a specified amount of rent.

Page 10



2.2.2 The Housing Act 2004 introduced rent repayment orders specifically in 
relation to offences regarding the licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(HMOs).

2.2.3 The Housing and Planning Act 2016 has extended this to cover a much wider 
range of offences including:

a) Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice;
b) Failure to comply with a Prohibition Order;
c) Offences in relation to licensing of HMOs;
d) Illegal eviction or harassment of the occupiers;
e) Breach of a Banning Order.

2.2.4 If rent was paid through Housing Benefit or through the housing element of 
Universal Credit, then the rent must be repaid to the local housing authority. If 
the rent was paid partially by the tenant with the remainder paid through 
Housing Benefit/Universal Credit, then the rent should be repaid on an 
equivalent basis. 

2.2.5 The Government has made it clear that local housing authorities must always 
consider a rent repayment order after a civil penalty has been successfully 
imposed.

2.3 Banning Orders

2.3.1 A Banning Order is an order made by the First Tier Property Tribunal, banning 
a person from letting a house in England and/or engaging in English letting 
agency or property management work.

2.3.2 A local authority in England may apply for a banning order against a person 
who has been convicted of a banning order offence. These are yet to be 
confirmed.

2.3.3 The length of a banning order must be at least 12 months. There is no upper 
limit on the potential length of a banning order.

2.3.4 The local authority can impose a civil penalty of up to £30,000 for a breach of 
a banning order.

2.3.5 The power to apply for banning orders was supposed to come into force in 
October 2017 however this has been delayed. It is hoped that the new powers 
will now be implemented in April 2018.

2.4 Rogue Landlord Database

2.4.1 A landlords details will be entered onto the database if they receive a banning 
order, if they are convicted of a banning order offence or if they receive two or 
more civil penalties over a 12 month period.

Page 11



2.4.2 The local housing authority is responsible for maintaining the content of the 
database.

2.4.3 We are currently awaiting a date for when the rogue landlord database will be 
implemented.

3.0 Other Legislation to be adopted.

3.1 The Redress Scheme for Lettings Agency Work (Requirement to belong 
to a scheme etc.) (England) Order 2014

3.1.1 This order requires a person who engages in property management work to 
be a member of a redress scheme for dealing with complaints in connection 
with that work.

3.1.2 Where the local authority is satisfied on the balance of probabilities that a 
person has failed to belong to a redress scheme, the authority may serve 
notice to require the person to pay a financial penalty.

3.1.3 The local authority has discretion to determine the amount of the fine, up to a 
maximum of £5000.

3.1.4 The legislation allows for appeals to the First Tier Property Tribunal against 
the imposition of a fine.

3.2 Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Properties) Regulations 2015

3.2.1 These regulations make it unlawful for landlords to grant a new tenancy or 
renew an existing tenancy of a private rented property with an energy 
performance certificate (EPC) rating of F or G from 1 April 2018.

3.2.2 From 1 April 2020, it will be unlawful to let any domestic private rented 
property with an EPC rating of F or G.

3.2.3 Where a property cannot be improved to EPC rating of E, the landlord will 
need to take steps to register an exemption on the national Private Rented 
Sector Exemptions Register.

3.2.4 Landlords who do not comply with the regulations face a fine of up to £5000. 
Local authorities have discretion to determine the level of fines in each case.

3.2.5 The legislation allows for appeals to the First Tier Property Tribunal against 
the imposition of a fine.

3.3 Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015

3.3.1 Under this legislation, the Council may take enforcement action where there is 
not at least one smoke alarm on each storey of a rented property and/or 
where there is no carbon monoxide alarm in any room used as living 
accommodation where solid fuel is used.

Page 12



3.3.2 The landlord must make sure the alarms are in working order at the start of 
each new tenancy.

3.3.3 Landlords who do not comply with the regulations face a fine of up to £5000. 
Local authorities have discretion to determine the level of fine.

3.3.4 Local authorities are required to publish a statement of principles which they 
will follow when determining the amount of a penalty charge.

3.3.5 The legislation allows for appeals to the First Tier Property Tribunal against 
the imposition of a fine.

4.0 Consultation

4.1 We plan to undertake a period of online consultation with internal and external 
partners to obtain the views of a wide range of stakeholders

4.2 We plan to host a Landlord Forum event to brief on the Council’s proposals.

5.0 Finance/Resource Implications

5.1 The Housing and Planning Act 2016 specifies that all of the income that a 
local authority receives from the imposition of civil penalties and the recovery 
of Housing Benefit through Rent Repayment Orders can be retained by the 
local authority to be spent on private sector housing enforcement work.

5.2 However, any income that a local authority receives from civil penalties and 
rent repayment orders but fails to spend, must be paid into the Government’s 
Consolidated Fund.

5.3 As previously mentioned, a right of appeal exists against any penalty 
imposed. Parties to an appeal are normally expected to bear their own costs 
and in most cases, it is unlikely that the Council will be able to recover any 
costs in relation to such appeals.

5.4 It is anticipated that enforcement will be undertaken utilising existing staff 
resources. In the event that the scale of enforcement activity necessitates 
additional staffing resources, these costs can be met from income generated 
through the imposition of civil penalties.

5.5 An increase in enforcement work is likely to result in a corresponding increase 
in the number of cases requiring legal advice and assistance. This may put 
additional pressure on existing staffing resources within the Council’s Legal 
team.

6.0 Legal Implications and Risks

6.1 The relevant legislation is shown in the Policies.

Page 13



6.2 Failure to have an up to date PSH Enforcement Policy is likely to attract 
criticism and have an adverse effect on the reputation of the Council.

7.0 Recommendations

7.1 The Committee is asked to receive the contents of the report and the 
information provided by officers.

7.2 The Committee provide any comments on the possible approaches being 
considered.

Emma Bundock
Private Sector Housing Manager

Page 14



Introduction

The Allerdale Housing Strategy 2016-2021 documents those steps that Allerdale 
Borough Council intends to take in order to realise its vision for private sector 
housing: “Improving Housing – Improving Lives”. The aim of the Private Sector 
Housing team is to improve the standard of housing through inspecting properties, 
processing licence applications, bringing empty properties back into use, providing 
advice to owners and landlords, signposting to grant assistance, encouraging and 
promoting good practice, investigating possible offences and, where appropriate, 
taking enforcement action. 

A key factor which will enable the Council to achieve this lies in its ability to regulate 
conditions within the private rented sector, which makes up more than 16% of all 
private sector homes in the borough. 

We expect landlords to comply with the law and proactively manage their properties 
to ensure that they provide a safe environment for any potential occupier and their 
visitors. Where individuals or companies are failing in their responsibilities and 
duties, the Council will take enforcement action that will achieve measurable 
improvements to housing standards. 

The Council will provide advice and guidance to assist landlords in complying with 
their legal requirements. The Council will seek to help with opportunities for landlords 
to develop their knowledge and understanding, which should reduce the risk of 
enforcement action being taken. The Council will provide this support through regular 
newsletters, landlord forums, and landlord training sessions.

Although our work is primarily focused upon the private rented sector, there are 
circumstances in which we deal with complaints relating to owner occupied and 
housing association properties.

Summary of the Enforcement Policy

The aim of this policy is to set out clearly the way in which the Council intends to 
secure effective compliance with legislation. It is intended to provide an overview of 
the principles and processes that will apply when officers decide whether to take 
enforcement action with respect to any given case. It sets out what owners, 
landlords, their agents and tenants of private sector properties can expect from 
officers within the Private Sector Housing Team.

Our objectives are to ensure that:

 Private tenants and tenants of registered social landlords live in homes 
that are free of unacceptable hazards;

 All Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO’s) are safe, well managed and all 
relevant Management Regulations are adhered to; 

Page 15



 All licensable Houses in Multiple Occupation are licensed and all licensing 
conditions are met;

 Private housing is not left empty for an unreasonable amount of time 
and/or becomes a nuisance to neighbouring properties;

 Privately owned property does not present a statutory nuisance to other 
land owners and does not directly or indirectly present an unacceptable 
risk to public health, safety or the environment; and

 The Council meets its statutory obligations in relation to private housing.

Where enquiries are beyond the remit of the Private Sector Housing Team, advice 
and signposting will be offered. Any areas that are not included within the policy will 
be determined on a case-by-case basis, having regard to the relevant legislation and 
available guidance.

Principles of Good Enforcement

This policy has been developed in line with the principles of good enforcement set 
out in the Regulators’ Compliance Code and the Enforcement Concordat.

The Private Sector Housing Team will enforce the law efficiently and effectively 
without imposing unnecessary burdens on responsible owners and occupiers. In 
doing so, it will have regard to the role of inspections, compliance visits, advice and 
guidance, and the principles underpinning enforcement activity. 

 Benefits to the Local Economy - Allerdale Borough Council aims to create 
areas where people want to live, bring up their children and work. Maintaining 
healthy housing and attractive neighbourhoods will benefit the local economy. 

 Property Inspections and Compliance Visits - The Private Sector Housing 
Team will undertake proactive property inspections, based on risk and 
intelligence, and ensure that its resources are targeted at the worst properties 
first. Officers will target empty properties in order to improve neighbourhoods 
and increase the supply of housing. We will respond to residents’ complaints 
about substandard, unsafe and problematic private housing and adopt an 
escalating regulatory approach to enforcement. 

 Advice and Guidance - The Council will provide general information, advice 
and guidance to make it easier for landlords and agents to understand and 
meet their responsibilities. This will normally be provided through the 
Council’s website: www.allerdale.gov.uk  The Council will also provide 
support through regular newsletters, landlord forums, the provision of landlord 
training sessions and the promotion of the Cumbria Landlord Accreditation 
Scheme (CLAS).

Page 16

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/


Principles underpinning Enforcement Action 

The Council’s Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy is based on the following 
principles: 

 Openness – We will provide clear information in plain English about the rules 
and regulations that we have a duty to enforce. We will discuss these and aim 
to explain straightforwardly how legislation can be complied with. Officers will 
clearly distinguish between legal requirements and recommendations, both in 
terms of their own work, and what is expected of stakeholders.

 Proportionality – Enforcement action will be proportionate and reflect the 
nature, scale and seriousness of any breach or non-compliance. 

 Fairness and objectivity – Enforcement action will be based on the 
individual circumstances of the case, taking all available facts into account. 
Officers will carry out investigations with a balanced and open mind.

 Transparency – Enforcement action will be undertaken in accordance with 
clearly defined policies and procedures that are readily available. All 
communications will be easy to understand, with clear reasons being given for 
any enforcement action taken. 

 Consistency – Whilst the team will apply judgement and discretion to 
individual circumstances, we will have clear procedures in place to ensure the 
approach to enforcement is consistent throughout the team. We will work with 
other regulatory agencies and share and develop good practice. 

 Accountability – We will provide you with information on how you can make 
complaints or appeal against the enforcement action that we take.

Working in partnership

Cases will often arise where the Private Sector Housing team and another partner 
organisation both have or share an enforcement role. We will liaise with that body to 
ensure effective co-ordination, to avoid inconsistencies and to ensure that 
enforcement action is appropriate to the circumstances of the incident. Where it is 
appropriate, the service shall share and receive information with organisations 
including, but not limited to:

 Police

 Fire Service

Page 17



 Adult Social Care

 HMRC

 Revenues and Benefits

 Health Service

Regard will always be had to the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 and 
the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) from May 2018.

What types of enforcement action will the Council use?

In ensuring that the main objective of enforcement action is achieved, the Council 
will consider all appropriate enforcement actions available to it. Appropriate 
enforcement action that can be taken includes but is not limited to: 

 Written warnings; 

 Statutory notices or orders under part 1 of the Housing Act 2004 and other 
relevant legislation; 

 Works in default; 

 Revoking or varying licences; 

 Civil penalty notice;

 Rent repayment orders; 

 Simple cautions;  

 Criminal proceedings (e.g. prosecution); 

 Interim or final management orders; 

 Banning Orders. 

One or more of the above actions may be taken simultaneously depending on the 
circumstances of the case.

Powers of Entry

Where a complaint of housing disrepair is received and an inspection is required, a 
notice of entry is required to be served under section 239 of the Housing Act 2004. 
This informs all relevant interested parties of the Council intended inspection.

If the complaint is of an urgent nature and the Council intend to use its emergency 
powers this will negate the need for the service of a section 239 notice.

Page 18



Where the Council are unable to gain access using a notice of entry or such notice 
would defeat the object of entry the Council are able to apply to the Magistrates 
Court for a warrant to enter.

What is expected of tenants?

Before considering taking any action in respect of a tenanted property the tenant(s) 
will normally be required to contact their landlord about the problems first. This 
applies to all tenants. Landlords can only carry out their obligations under the 
legislation once they have been made aware of the problem. Tenants will be offered 
advice involving how to write to their landlord detailing their complaint. Standard 
letter templates will be provided as required and will be available on our website.

Situations where a service to tenants is not provided

 Where the tenant(s) unreasonably refuse access to the landlord, managing 
agent or landlord’s contractor, to arrange or carry out works;

 Where the tenant(s) have, in the opinion of the council, clearly caused the 
damage to the property that they are complaining about, and there are no 
other items of disrepair;

 Where the tenant(s) have been aggressive, threatening, verbally or physically 
abusive towards Officers;

 Where there is found to be no justification for the complaint, on visiting the 
property;

 Where the service has determined that the complaint is vexatious.

Legislation

The Housing Act 2004, (“the Act”), together with Regulations made under it, 
prescribes the Housing Health and Safety Rating System as the means by which 
local authorities assess housing conditions and decide on action to deal with poor 
housing. It is an evidence based risk assessment system, which looks at the likely 
effect of housing conditions on the health of occupiers. 29 potential hazards are 
assessed and scored for their severity. Any defect in a property may give rise to one 
or more of these hazards. 

The score resulting from an assessment will place the hazard in a hazard banding 
between A and J. Hazards in bands A to C are classed as Category 1 hazards and 
those in bands D to J are classed as Category 2 hazards. The Council must take 
appropriate action in respect of a Category 1 hazard and may do so in respect of a 
Category 2 hazard.

Page 19



For the purposes of assessing the hazard, it is assumed that the dwelling is occupied 
by the class of occupier who is most vulnerable to that hazard, as determined by the 
guidance. However, in determining the most appropriate course of action to take, 
regard is had to the current and likely occupiers and visitors, the views of the 
occupiers and whether multiple hazards are present.

The Housing and Planning Act 2016 confers additional enforcement powers as 
discussed elsewhere in this policy.

Enforcement Action

It is for the Council to determine what the most appropriate course of action in 
relation to a hazard is. Consideration is given to all relevant factors of the case, to 
published guidance from central government and professional organisations and to 
the views of owners and tenants.

The forms of appropriate enforcement action set out in the Housing Act 2004 are as 
follows:

Hazard Awareness Notice (HAN)

 Hazard Awareness Notice relating to Category 1 Hazards; section 28

 Hazard Awareness Notice relating to Category 2 Hazards; section 29

A Hazard Awareness Notice is used where a more serious form of action is not 
considered appropriate. It does however act as a formal way of drawing attention to 
the need for remedial action. The notice is not registered as a land charge and there 
is no appeal procedure.

Improvement Notice (IN)

 Improvement Notice relating to Category 1 hazards; section 11

 Improvement Notice relating to Category 2 hazards; section 12

An Improvement Notice requires the specified remedial works to be carried out within 
a timescale set out in the notice. This must give the person on whom the notice is 
served a reasonable opportunity to do the work. The notice cannot require work to 
start earlier than 28 days after the service of the notice. There is a 21 day appeal 
period.

Page 20



Prohibition Order (PO)

 Prohibition Order relating to Category 1 Hazards; s20 

 Prohibition Order relating to Category 2 Hazards; s21 

A Prohibition Order may prohibit the occupation or use for a specified purpose of part 
or all of the premises. A Prohibition Order may be appropriate where serious hazards 
exist, but remedial action is impossible or impractical. It may also limit the use of part 
or all of the premises by specific groups of people or to a specified number of 
people. Normally, a prohibition order becomes operative 28 days after service. 

Improvement Notices or Prohibition Orders may be suspended where action can be 
postponed for a specific time or until a specified event, for example where there is a 
change in occupation of a property.

Emergency Remedial Action; s40

The Council has the discretion to take emergency remedial action against Category 
1 hazards which present an imminent risk of serious harm to the occupier. The 
action will consist of whatever remedial action the Council considers necessary to 
remove an imminent risk of serious harm.

The Council must serve a notice of emergency remedial action within seven days of 
taking action. The notice must specify the nature of the hazard, the deficiency giving 
rise to the hazard and the date when the action was or is to be started. The notice 
must also contain information about the right to appeal.

Emergency Prohibition Order; s43

The Council has the discretion to make an emergency prohibition order against 
category 1 hazards which present an imminent risk of serious harm to the occupiers. 
The order may prohibit the use of all or any part of a premise with immediate effect. 
The order must specify the nature of the hazard and any remedial action which 
would result in the order being revoked. The order must also contain information 
about the right to appeal.

Demolition Orders to deal with premises affected by Category 1 hazards

Demolition Orders are available under Part 9 of the Housing Act 1985 as amended, 
as a possible response to a Category 1 hazard. A demolition order requires the 
property to be vacated within a specified time and subsequently demolished. It is a 
criminal office to allow a premise to be occupied under a demolition order has come 
into effect. Should the building not be demolished the Council can demolish it and 
recharge the person upon whom the notice was served.

Page 21



Clearance Areas to deal with premises affected by Category 1 hazards

A clearance area is an area to be cleared of all buildings. A clearance area under 
Part 9 of the Housing Act 1985 can be declared if the Council is satisfied that each of 
the residential buildings in the area contains one or more Category 1 hazards (or that 
the buildings are dangerous or harmful to the health or safety of the occupiers as a 
result of their bad arrangement or the narrowness or bad arrangement of the streets) 
and any other buildings in the area are dangerous or harmful to the inhabitants. The 
Council is required to consult on the declaration of a clearance of an area and 
publish its intentions.

Rights of Appeal

There is a right of appeal against most notices, orders or decisions made by the 
Council. Where there is an appeal, the appropriate authority may confirm, quash, 
vary or suspend any notice, order or decision.

Vacated Properties with Statutory Notice

In cases where properties are subject to statutory notice and the property is 
subsequently vacated, all notices or orders will be reviewed to consider whether they 
may be varied, suspended or revoked. The Council will seek to deter landlords from 
undertaking retaliatory eviction and will not consider that removal of a tenant 
achieves compliance with any notice served, except in overcrowding situations 
where it was a specific requirement of the notice.

Works in Default

Where the person(s) responsible has failed to comply with an enforcement notice 
which requires works to be completed, the Council may carry out those works 
instead; these are known as works in default. This may be done either with or 
without the agreement of the person(s) on whom the notice was served. The Council 
will seek to recover the costs incurred in undertaking works.

Revoking / Varying a Licence 

Where a property is licenced under Part 2 or Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004, the 
Council has the power to revoke or vary the licence. 

Licences can be revoked where any term of the licence has been breached or where 
other offences have been committed which mean that the persons involved are no 
longer fit and proper persons for the purposes of housing licensing. 

Licence can also be revoked by the agreement of the licence holder for example 
where the property is sold or where the licence holder wishes to relinquish the 
licence. 

Page 22



Licences can be varied where there has been a change of circumstances at the 
property and this includes the discovery of breaches or offences committed by 
persons involved with the licence or management of the property. 

Where a licence holder is made the subject of a Banning Order under Section 16 of 
the Housing and Planning Act 2016, the Council is under a duty to revoke any 
licences they hold. This part of the Housing and Planning Act is not yet in force.

Civil Penalties

The power to impose civil penalties as an alternative to prosecution for specific 
offences under the Housing Act 2004, was introduced by section 126 and Schedule 
9 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016. The offences for which a civil penalty can 
be imposed are as follows:

 Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (section 30);

 Offences in relation to the licensing of HMOs (section 72);

 Offences in relation to licensing of houses under Part 3 of the Act (section 95);

 Offences of contravention of an overcrowding notice (section 139);

 Failure to comply with management regulations in respect of HMOs (section 
234).

The same criminal standard of proof is required for a civil penalty as for a criminal 
prosecution. A civil penalty can be imposed for up to £30,000 per offence. Each 
individual breach of the management regulations (section 234) is treated as a 
separate offence. The exact amount of any civil penalty will be calculated in 
accordance with the Council’s ‘Civil Penalties Enforcement Guidance’ document.

The Council will consider its enforcement options on a case by case basis and may 
decide that a significant financial penalty (or penalties if there have been several 
breeches), rather than prosecution is the most appropriate and effective sanction.

Where the Council is satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to provide a realistic 
prospect of conviction, but that it is not considered in the public interest to seek to 
remove the landlord from the market by way of a banning order, the Council will 
consider imposing a civil penalty as an alternative to prosecution.

Prior to imposing a civil penalty, the Council will serve a notice of intent and this will 
give the recipient an opportunity to make representations against the proposed civil 
penalty.

Page 23



Rent Repayment Orders 

Where housing benefit has been paid to a landlord and the Council is satisfied that 
the landlord has committed one or more specific offences, the Council can apply for 
a Rent Repayment Order. Where the landlord is convicted of one of the relevant 
offences, the Council is under a duty to consider applying for a Rent Repayment 
Order. The specific offences for which an order can be sought are as follows:

 Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (Housing Act 2004, Section 30)

 Failure to comply with a Prohibition Order (Housing Act 2004, Section 32)

 Offences in relation to licensing of HMO’s (Housing Act 2004, Section 72)

 Offences in relation to licensing of houses under Part 3 of the Act (Housing 
Act 2004, Section 95)

 Breach of a Banning Order (Housing and Planning Act 2016, Section 21)

 Using violence to secure entry to a property (Criminal Law Act 1977, Section 
6)

 Illegal eviction or harassment of the occupiers (Protection from Eviction Act 
1977, Section 1)

The Council will usually apply for the full amount that can be recovered and lesser 
amounts will only be sought in exceptional circumstances.

Simple Cautions 

A simple caution may be offered as an alternative to prosecution where the Council 
is satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to provide a realistic prospect of 
conviction in respect of the offence/s and that the public interest test would be 
satisfied by offering a simple caution rather than prosecute. 

A simple caution must not be offered to a person who has not made a clear and 
reliable admission to committing the offence/s. Before the simple caution is 
administered officers shall ensure the Landlord has made an admission of guilt, 
understands the implications of accepting a simple caution and consents to accept it. 

Prosecutions 

Prosecution will be considered where the Council is satisfied that it has sufficient 
evidence to provide a realistic prospect of conviction and where a prosecution is 
required in the public interest. When deciding whether to prosecute the Council has 
regard to this Enforcement Policy and the provisions of The Code for Crown 
Prosecutors as issued by the Director of Public Prosecutions.

Page 24



How will the Council choose which type of enforcement action to take?

Where an inspection shows a Category 1 hazard to be present, the Council will take 
one of the appropriate courses of action specified in The Act. If the hazard(s) do not 
present an imminent risk to health, the Council will normally try to address offences 
or hazards by first asking the landlord to comply with their duties and responsibilities 
and warning them about the consequences of failing to comply. This would usually 
be achieved through the service of a Hazard Awareness Notice. This will give the 
property owner a reasonable amount of time to rectify the defects and remove or 
reduce the hazard to an acceptable level.

If the owner fails to take this action in the specified time, an Improvement Notice will 
be served. If the owner has a significant record of non-compliance with the Act, then 
an Improvement Notice will be served immediately without the intermediate stage of 
service of a Hazard Awareness Notice. An Improvement Notice may also be served 
immediately if the hazard is considered to be of a serious nature or if there are a 
number of Category 1 hazards.

Where an inspection identifies Category 2 hazards and these hazards fall into Band 
D or E of the HHSRS, the same procedure will be followed as when a Category 1 
hazard is present. 

Where an inspection finds Category 2 hazards in Band F or below, the council will 
not normally take any further action unless there are exceptional circumstances. For 
example – where multiple hazards at Band D or below combine to create a more 
serious situation, where a property appears to be in a dilapidated condition or where 
the conditions are such as to be affecting the material comfort of an occupying 
tenant.

If there is a serious risk to the health and safety of the occupiers, then consideration 
will be given to the service of a Prohibition Order. If this serious risk is imminent, 
consideration will be given to the service of an Emergency Prohibition Order, or to 
undertaking Emergency Remedial Action. 

Where an offence is serious enough or where the landlord has failed to respond to 
initial enforcement action, the Council may determine that it is in the public interest to 
take the highest level of enforcement action available. This can include civil 
penalties, prosecution, simple caution, banning orders (when they come into force) 
and interim/final management orders. 

To reduce the likelihood of retaliatory eviction, enforcement action will continue until 
the property is brought up to a satisfactory condition, whether or not the original 
tenant remains in the property.

Page 25



Level to which hazards are to be improved

The Housing Act 2004 requires only that the works specified when taking the most 
appropriate course, reduce a Category 1 hazard to a Category 2 hazard. For 
example, Band C and Band A hazards need only be reduced to Band D. The Council 
will generally seek to specify works which achieve a significant reduction in the 
hazard level and in particular will be to a standard that should ensure that no further 
intervention should be required for a minimum period of 3 years.

Charging for enforcement activity

There will be a charge for Notices served and Orders made under Part 1 of the 
Housing Act 2004 (see Fees and Charges Policy). The charge will not be applied 
until the end of any appeal period contained within the notice. If there is an appeal, 
then the charge will not be applied until the appeal is resolved and subject to the 
notice being confirmed by the tribunal.

Where works in default are carried out, an administrative charge of 12% of the cost 
of the works, will be added to the total amount to be recovered.

Land Charges

Certain legal notices served will be registered as a part 1 land charge which will not 
be removed from the register until it is complied with.

Where works are completed by the Council (as emergency or in default) or a charge 
is made for the service of notice these notices will be registered as a part 2 land 
charge, which will not be removed from the register until payment is received.

Land charges will show up on a general land search (for example when searches are 
made by a purchaser’s solicitor if a property is being sold).

Requesting Information

Section 235 of the Housing Act 2004

The Private Sector Housing Team is able to use powers under Section 235 of the 
Housing Act 2004 to require documentation from any relevant person, to assist the 
Council with any investigation or function under Parts 1 – 4 of the Housing Act 2004. 
Failure to comply with a notice under this section is a criminal offence with a 
maximum fine of £5000.

Section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 gives the 
Council the power to issue ‘Requisition for Information’ notices. When the Council 
needs to obtain information about a property in respect of which we are proposing to 
take enforcement action, we will serve a requisition for information notice upon the 
owner and/or any other person who has a legal interest in it, or who directly or 

Page 26



indirectly receives rent, or is authorised to manage or to arrange for its letting. 
Failure to comply with a notice under this section is a criminal offence with a 
maximum fine of £5000.

Additional Enforcement Powers

Although housing issues will primarily be dealt with under the Housing Act 2004, 
there may be circumstances where the use of other legislation is more appropriate.

 Environmental Protection Act 1990 – we will use this to tackle premises that 
are considered prejudicial to health or a nuisance. 

 Building Act 1984, Section 59 – used to deal with defective drainage issues in 
existing buildings.

 Public Health Acts 1936 and 1961 – we will use these to tackle drainage 
issues and filthy and verminous premises.

 Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949, Section 4 – we will use this to 
require works necessary where there is potential for an infestation of pests.

 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, Section 29 – This 
gives the council the power to require the owner to board up a dwelling to 
prevent unauthorised access, and to carry out the work in default, if the owner 
fails to comply or cannot be found.

 Housing Act 1985 (As Amended) – Some provisions within the 1985 Act have 
not been revoked and may be appropriate to use in some circumstances. In 
particular the overcrowding provisions are still available and may be used 
where the 2004 Act is not sufficient.

 The Redress Schemes for Lettings Agency Work (Requirement to belong to a 
scheme etc.) (England) Order 2014 – This order requires a person who 
engages in property management work to be a member of a redress scheme 
for dealing with complaints in connection with that work.

 The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 – This 
can be used where there is not at least one smoke alarm on each storey of a 
rented property and/or where there is no carbon monoxide detector in a room 
with a solid fuel burning appliance.

 Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) Regulations 2015 (Energy Act 
2011) – These regulations make it unlawful for landlords to grant a new 
tenancy or renew an existing tenancy of a private rented property with an 
energy performance certificate (EPC) rating of F or G from 1 April 2018 

Page 27



 (unless an exemption applies and is registered). From 1 April 2020 it will be 
unlawful to let any domestic private rented property with an EPC rating of F or 
G (unless an exemption applies and is registered). Landlords who do not 
comply with the regulations face a fine of up to £5000.

Tenure

Registered Providers

Registered Providers (RPs) exist to provide suitable and properly maintained 
accommodation for their tenants. They are managed by Boards (which typically 
include tenant representatives) and their performance is scrutinised by the Homes 
and Communities Agency. RPs employ staff to manage and maintain their properties 
and will usually have written arrangements for reporting problems, setting out the 
response times they aim to achieve, and detailing the process for registering any 
complaints about service failure.

On this basis, the Council will seek to deal with RPs in a proportionate manner, 
classing complaints against RPs as low risk. These complaints will initially be dealt 
with in writing, without a formal inspection being undertaken.

In exceptional circumstances we may prioritise urgent or serious complaints 
concerning RP properties. However, the Council must be satisfied that:

 The problem in question has been properly reported to the RP; and

 The RP has then failed to take appropriate action within a reasonable 
timescale, taking into account its published or other realistic response targets;

Then the Council will inspect and take enforcement action in line with this policy.

Owner Occupied Properties

The council expects that owner-occupiers will take their own action to maintain their 
homes the requirement to take the most appropriate course of action will be satisfied 
by the service of a Hazard Awareness Notice.

In some exceptional cases, in line with the HHSRS Enforcement Guidance, it will be 
necessary to take formal enforcement action. This is likely to be where there is an 
imminent risk of serious harm to the occupiers themselves or to others, or where the 
condition of the dwelling is such that it may adversely affect the health and safety of 
others outside the household.

Page 28



Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004 – Mandatory Licensing of Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs)

In addition to the previously mentioned enforcement options the Council has further 
powers to ensure adequate standards in HMOs are met and maintained.

The Housing Act 2004 introduced a mandatory scheme to licence HMOs. Mandatory 
licensing is intended to apply only to larger high risk HMOs of three or more storeys, 
occupied by five or more people, comprising two or more households.

The HMO licensing regime provides procedures to assess the fitness of a person to 
be a licence holder, potential management arrangements of the premises and 
suitability of the property for the number of occupants, including the provision of 
relevant and adequate equipment and facilities at the property.

It is a criminal offence if a person controlling or managing a HMO does not have the 
required licence. Breaking any condition of a licence is also an offence.

Interim or Final Management Orders 

The Council is under a duty to apply for an interim management order where a 
property requires a licence, or will after the current one is revoked, but there is no 
reasonable prospect of it becoming licenced or there are significant health and safety 
concerns at the property. An interim management order can be made for up to 12 
months. 

Where an interim management order is coming to an end and the criteria for 
applying for the order still apply, the Council can apply for a final management order, 
which can be made for up to 5 years. 

Whilst a management order is in place, the Council, or an agent appointed by the 
Council, will be responsible for managing the property and carrying out any works 
that are required. The Council will receive the rental income and deduct any relevant 
expenditure from this amount before transferring the excess, if any remains, to the 
landlord.

Empty Homes

Interim Empty Dwelling Management Order

An Interim Empty Dwelling Management Order (interim EDMO) is an Order 
authorised after a successful application to the First Tier Tribunal. The dwelling must 
have been wholly unoccupied for at least two years and there is no reasonable 
prospect that the dwelling will become occupied in the near future. An interim EDMO 
enables the Council to take steps to ensure, with the consent of the owner, that an 
empty dwelling becomes occupied. An interim EDMO lasts no longer than 12 
months.

Page 29



Final Empty Dwelling Management Order

A Final Empty Dwelling Management Order (Final EDMO) may replace an Interim 
EDMO if the Council feels that unless a Final EDMO is in place, the dwelling will 
become or remain empty. Where the dwelling is already unoccupied, the Council 
must have taken all appropriate steps under the interim EDMO with a view to 
ensuring that the dwelling becomes occupied. A final EDMO lasts for 7 years. Orders 
can be varied or revoked in accordance with the provisions of Part 4 of the Act.

Compulsory Purchase

Where the owner of an empty home cannot be found or refuses to take action to 
secure re-occupation of the dwelling which has been empty for more that XX years 
and/or is giving rise to problems in the neighbourhood, or compulsory purchase is 
considered the most appropriate course of action, the Council may consider taking 
compulsory purchase action.

Enforced Sale

Where a debt in excess of £XX.XX has been registered as a Local Land Charge 
against a property, and remains unpaid for XXX period of time, where considered 
appropriate, the Council may commence proceedings to enforce the sale of the 
property. The proceeds of the sale will be given to the owner less the amount of debt 
and less the costs incurred by the Council.

Other aspects of Private Sector Housing work

Hoarding

Hoarding situations may be brought to our attention in both the private rented and 
owner occupied sector. The Council’s priority would always to be to protect the 
interests of any vulnerable occupants and work with them engaging other agencies 
where appropriate to avoid the need for enforcement action. However, there may be 
circumstances where nuisance is being caused to neighbouring properties and we 
are under a duty to take enforcement action.

Overcrowding and Immigration

Where residents believe that their property is overcrowded then the Council will 
assess the property and the current occupation based on information provided to 
determine if it is statutorily overcrowded. Where this is found to be the case, an 
inspection will be completed to confirm this.

Where a resident requests the overcrowding inspection because they require it for 
immigration or UK Visa purposes, then an inspection will be completed to determine 
if the property is suitable for the total number of potential occupants. This is a 
chargeable service. 

Page 30



Complaints

In the event that an individual or company is not satisfied with the service or does not 
agree with the action taken by the investigating officer, they should first contact the 
Private Sector Housing Manager. A response to the complaint would be expected 
within 10 working days; if we are unable to respond within 10 working days we will 
respond and let you know when you can expect a response.

If this does not resolve the complaint the Council also has a formal complaints 
system. Visit www.allerdale.gov.uk for more details or use any of the following other 
contact methods:

By telephone: 0303 123 1702 - Customer Contact Centre
01900 702570 - Housing and Health

By email: housingservices@allerdale.gov.uk

By post or in person: Allerdale Borough Council
Allerdale House
Workington 
Cumbria
CA14 3YJ

NB This does not have any bearing on any right of appeal that may exist in relation 
to the various legal enforcement actions taken by the Council.

Monitoring and Review

The Council’s Private Sector Housing Manager is responsible for ensuring that 
officers implement the service in accordance with the Policy. Procedures are in place 
which include details of how checks are made to ensure compliance with the Policy.

I accordance with the Regulators’ Compliance Code, the council will keep its 
regulatory activities and interventions under review. This document will be reviewed 
as a minimum every 12 months to take into consideration relevant changes to 
legislation or other guidance that may affect it.

Page 31

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/


Appendix One

Housing disrepair procedure

We offer advice and guidance on housing conditions to private tenants, owners, 
agents, trustees and landlords in Allerdale. We endeavour to improve standards, 
using legal powers where appropriate, in line with our Enforcement Policy and 
procedures. If we can’t help directly, we’ll try and signpost you to another 
organisation who can.

Each case will be assessed on risk. This allows us to prioritise the worst housing 
conditions for those people who require help the most. If there is an imminent risk to 
health then the Council must act immediately and cases will aim to be contacted and 
inspected within 24 hours. 

In all other instances, tenants will be encouraged to approach their landlord directly 
about their complaint.  In most circumstances the tenant will be advised to put their 
complaint in writing and request a reply within 14 days.  The tenant will be advised to 
ensure they put the date on their letter and keep a copy of it.  After the 14 day period 
has expired, and if the landlord as not agreed to carry out any work, the tenant will 
be advised to contact us again, providing a copy of the letter they sent to their 
landlord. Standard letter templates will be provided as required.

If the tenant has not received a satisfactory outcome, arrangements will be made 
inspect and rate the property using the Housing Health and Safety Rating System. A 
letter providing notice of entry will be sent to the tenant and landlord. We aim to carry 
out an inspection within 15 working days. 

Complaints against Registered Providers will generally be classed as low risk as 
they are expected to have their own effective procedures for dealing with disrepair. 
Such complaints will initially be dealt with without a formal inspection being 
undertaken. 

However, where the Council is satisfied that:

 The problem in question has been properly reported to the RP; and

 The RP has then failed to take appropriate action within a reasonable 
timescale, taking into account its published or other realistic response targets;

Then the Council will inspect and take enforcement action in line with the Private 
Sector Housing Enforcement Policy.

Tenants should be advised that the Council are unable to protect them from eviction 
should they complain, however officers will provide support and advice should this 
occur.

Page 32



Following an inspection, a copy of the inspection report will be provided to the 
landlord and tenant within 10 working days. If immediate enforcement action is 
required, then this will be discussed at the time of the inspection.

Any works that are required to be undertaken will be detailed within the inspection 
report along with timescales for this to be completed. Both tenant and landlord will be 
contacted within one month of any deadline set in the inspection report, in order to 
arrange access to carry out an inspection of the work that has been undertaken.

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34



Allerdale Borough Council

Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 15 December 2017 

Report of the Tackling Poverty Task and Finish Group 

The Reason for the Decision The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
appointed a Task and Finish Group to 
review the draft Tackling Poverty Strategy. 

Summary of options considered Not applicable. 

Recommendations  That the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee agree that the revised 
Tackling Poverty Strategy November 
2017 as presented to this meeting is 
accepted for recommendation to 
Executive.

 That the Council consults with local 
partners to ensure the proposed 
Strategy and Action Plan supports 
and complements their work, prior to 
being formally presented to 
Executive to be considered for 
adoption and implementation.

 That the Council gives priority to 
support and advice services for 
Allerdale residents.

 That future Council reports should 
include greater detail of intended or 
current partnership working and 
incorporate 'tackling poverty' as part 
of the report implications list, with 
details given in the body of the 
report.

Financial /  Resource Implications The draft Strategy Action Plan sets out a 
number of proposed activities that the 
Council may undertake.  Some activities 
relate to direct delivery through existing 
services and budgets of the Council, but 
others will require funding to be released 
from the Council’s Priority Fund. 

Legal / Governance Implications No direct implications.

Page 35

Agenda Item 8



Community Safety Implications No direct implications. 

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

No direct implications. 

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

The group has taken representations from 
groups across the voluntary and community 
sectors.   

Wards Affected All. 

The contribution this decision would  
make to the Council’s priorities

When approved, the strategy will contribute 
to the Tackling Inequality theme within the 
Council Plan. 

Is this a Key Decision No. 

Portfolio Holder Councillor Alan Smith

Lead Officer Ian Hinde
Acting Scrutiny Officer
01900 702544
ian.hinde@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications

Community Safety Y Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial N Employment (internal) N

Legal N Partnership Y

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management N

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N

Background papers:  Council Plan
Youth Unemployment Review

1.0 Introduction and background

1.1 This report provides members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with 
supporting information and the recommendations of the Tackling Poverty Task 
and Finish Group.

1.2 In April 2017 the Executive suggested the draft Strategy should be considered 
by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee prior to it being formerly presented 
for consideration.

Page 36



1.3 The Council adopted a new Overview and Scrutiny structure in May 2017 
following a Peer Review and as part of the new structure agreed that task and 
finish groups would be set up to undertake items from the Committee’s work 
plan. The Tackling Poverty Task and Finish Group was the first group 
established under the new structure.

2.0 Membership of the Task and Finish Group 

2.1 The Tackling Poverty Task and Finish Group consisted of the following 
members:

Cllr. Billy Miskelly (Chair), Cllr. Bill Finlay, Cllr. Marion Fitzgerald, Cllr. Malcolm 
Grainger, Cllr. Hilary Harrington, and Cllr. Philip Tibble.

3.0 Overview

3.1 The Task and Finish Group was established by The Overview and Scrutiny at 
its meeting on 23 June 2017 and met between August and November 2017.

3.2 The TFG’s terms of reference were set by the Committee as:
 

· Consider and scrutinise the draft Tackling Poverty Strategy and Action Plan
· Identify what is currently being done by the Council and partners to tackle 

poverty in the Borough
· Make recommendations for future actions by the Council and partners to 

tackle poverty in the Borough

The TFG was asked to report back to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
by December 2017. 

3.3 The report of the Task and Finish Group is at Appendix 1.

3.4 The revised Tackling Poverty Strategy (November 2017) is at Appendix 2.

4.0 Recommendations

The Task and Finish Group recommendations are as follows:

4.1 That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee agree that the revised Tackling 
Poverty Strategy November 2017 as presented to this meeting is accepted for 
recommendation to Executive.

4.2 That the Council consults with local partners to ensure the proposed Strategy 
and Action Plan supports and complements their work, prior to being formally 
presented to Executive to be considered for adoption and implementation.

4.3 That the Council gives priority to support and advice services for Allerdale 
residents.

Page 37



4.4 That future Council reports should include greater detail of intended or current 
partnership working and incorporate 'tackling poverty' as part of the report 
implications list, with details given in the body of the report.

5.0 Conclusion

5.1 The issues of tackling poverty are complex and cannot be solved by a single 
organisation or action. The Council has a role to play in working to address 
these issues, alongside a network of partners.  

5.2 The Council will need to remain vigilant to the changing nature of issues its 
residents face, and continue to review its actions to address those issues. 

Councillor Billy Miskelly
Chair of the Tackling Poverty Task and Finish Group

Page 38



Overview and Scrutiny 1

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”

Report of the 
Tackling Poverty 

Task and Finish Group

November 2017

Page 39



Overview and Scrutiny 2

1. Introduction

The Task and Finish Group was established by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to consider the following terms of reference:

 Consider and scrutinise the draft Tackling Poverty Strategy and Action Plan
 Identify what is currently being done by the Council and partners to tackle poverty 

in the Borough
 Make recommendations for future actions by the Council and partners to tackle 

poverty in the Borough.

The Task and Finish Group consisted of:

Cllr. Billy Miskelly (chair), 
Cllr. Bill Finlay, 
Cllr. Marion Fitzgerald, 
Cllr. Malcolm Grainger, 
Cllr. Hilary Harrington, and 
Cllr. Philip Tibble.

The Group established its scope at the first meeting and reviewed the existing draft 
strategy. The Group met six times between August and November to address the 
scope and remit, with each of the first three Objectives given a full meeting devoted 
to its detail. These are dealt with in this report. A single meeting considered all the 
points in the draft action plan where members of the Group suggested amendments, 
then additional actions were referred to officers for viability checks. A final, seventh 
meeting where officers reported back their findings, allowed Members to finalise their 
recommendations for inclusion in the revised draft strategy.

Page 40



Overview and Scrutiny 3

2. Background

Prior to their initial meeting, members of the group attended a Tackling Poverty 
seminar organised by the Council. This included presentations from the following 
organisations regarding their current work in the area: Barnardo's, Cumbria Youth 
Alliance, Groundwork North East and Cumbria, Inspira, North Lakes Foodbank, West 
Cumbria Credit Union, West Cumbria Cultural Education Partnership 

Members of the Group complemented their understanding of issues associated with 
the strategy through attending the West Cumbria Child Poverty Forum seminar 'Child 
Poverty: Making A Difference in Your Community'; a food poverty community forum 
focusing on the FareShare scheme being introduced to the Allerdale and Copeland 
areas; the Council's own 'Housing For The Future' seminar; a visit to Keswick 
Community Housing Trust open to all interested Councillors; as well as the 
presentation at the Committee meeting on 3 November which focused on the current 
skills and training provision provided through Cumbria LEP.

The Group was asked to consider if the existing draft of the Tackling Poverty 
Strategy is fit for purpose in reflecting the current position and possible courses of 
action which this Council could adopt, adapt or continue to tackle poverty issues in 
the borough.

To do this, the Group needed to identify whether the draft adequately represents the 
current position in the borough.  These are the questions considered:

 Does the draft strategy clearly reflect the issues concerning poverty in 
Allerdale?

 Do the statistics and data adequately set out these issues and challenges?

 Do the objectives adequately address the issues?
1. Addressing basic needs
2. Creating pathways into local employment and improving 

employment options
3. Supporting people to deal with money matters
4. Improving information and co-ordination to better support 

communities

 Is the relationship between evidence (data and statistics) and the draft 
objectives clear and explicit?

 Is the targeted approach (as suggested in the draft strategy) going to make 
the best use of the Council’s available resources?

 Are all the aspects of poverty adequately addressed? Should child poverty 
issues be addressed under a separate heading?

 The draft suggests three different roles for the Council – are these 
appropriate? Should the focus be on a particular role or elements of more 
than one?

Page 41



Overview and Scrutiny 4

 Taking into account the research from elsewhere (for example from the 
Joseph Rowntree Foundation), are there any other approaches which should 
be considered?

 How does the Council ensure the resources it commits to tackle poverty will 
be most effective? Will the proposed principles of working together, sharing 
resources and not duplicating work be appropriate? Is there an approach 
which can be more effective?

 Are there specific actions which the Task and Finish Group wish to 
recommend for the Council to consider including in the Tackling Poverty 
Action Plan?

The Group looked at the existing draft strategy and made some recommendations 
regarding layout which are incorporated in to the revised draft. The Group felt there 
ought to be greater focus the three roles highlighted for the Council, namely  

 A leadership role – we seek to work alongside and/or influence other 
organisations;

 Direct delivery – we do the work ourselves through existing staff;

 A facilitator role – we enable others to do work that supports our aims;
and that these need to be implemented together. The Group also felt the data 
sections, much of which was already available in the Council’s ‘About Allerdale’ 
document, could be moved into an appendix, and this is now how the information is 
presented in the revised draft strategy.

Page 42



Overview and Scrutiny 5

3. Work undertaken in this review

The Group undertook their review by focussing primarily on an objective from the 
draft Strategy within a single meeting, with presentations from representatives from 
organisations working within the broad subject area to provide further detail. This 
included presentations from North Lakes Foodbank, the Council’s Head of Economic 
Growth and staff from the benefits section, and Citizens Advice Allerdale. 

Addressing basic needs 

The Group had presentations from North Lakes Foodbank regarding their 
experiences from supporting people using their services, and from the Council's 
benefits team staff focusing on support which addresses basic needs. 

The majority of people access foodbank services due to delays in benefit payments. 
The issue was being highlighted by national media while the Task and Finish Group 
was running.

At the time of receiving a presentation by Council staff, 701 people had been 
supported by staff to complete digital applications for benefits; 48 people were 
referred for personal budgeting support, though 13 people did not attend, while 10 
people were referred to Citizens Advice or a housing association for further support.

At the same meeting, the Group heard that to date 309 households had been 
supported with c. £106,000 of discretionary housing payments, which represented 
46.26% of the current year's grant. While all applicants need to be in receipt of 
housing benefit or the housing element of Universal Credit, the majority of 
applications relate to under-occupancy costs.  As it is a means tested benefit, staff 
reported to the meeting that 78 people had been refused.

Supporting people to deal with money matters 

The Group had a presentation from Citizens Advice Allerdale. The presentation 
primarily confirmed that the work of advice agencies supports Objectives 1 and 3, 
and that activity levels and client numbers reflect the Indices of Multiple Deprivation 
overall deprivation decile.

The Group felt Councillors would benefit from training sessions to supporting their 
ward work particularly to raise their awareness of issues and available local support 
for those struggling with debt issues.

The Group was given a set of figures which showed differing levels of local authority 
support for advice services across the county. The Group was concerned to ensure 
appropriate levels of support and advice services are available to Allerdale residents, 
particularly while the transition to full service Universal Credit is rolled out (estimated 
to continue to 2020).

Page 43



Overview and Scrutiny 6

Creating a cohesive approach

Objective 4, which deals with improving information and co-ordination, underpins the 
actions associated with the other Objectives. Members of the Group were especially 
supportive of action 4.4 to better co-ordinate existing work and avoid duplication, 
particularly when organisations are applying for funding.

The Group noted that the work of the previous Community Scrutiny Committee, the 
Youth Unemployment Review, contained recommendations which have not yet been 
completed and those have been incorporated in to the revised Tackling Poverty 
Strategy Action Plan as proposed by the Task and Finish Group.

The Group agreed that the Strategy should acknowledge that poverty issues affect 
residents across the whole borough and is not only found in the areas regularly 
highlighted in the relevant data. 

Summarised notes from the Tackling Poverty Task and Finish Group meetings

This section summarises elements of those discussions which were of concern to 
members of the Group though are not included in the revised draft Strategy.

The decision by the Executive to commit funding to support the development of the 
West Cumbria Credit Union was extensively and intensively discussed by the Group 
at several of the meetings. While the intention to support safe sources of credit and 
the work of the credit union in particular were prominent within the Strategy, the 
Group had had just two of its meetings when the Executive took its decision. The 
Group concluded it wished to see the West Cumbria Credit Union (now called 
Affinity) regularly reporting progress to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Transport issues were raised as a barrier to those seeking work across Allerdale, 
however the subject is complex and would require a multi-faceted, multi-disciplinary, 
multi-partner approach to begin to explore possible solutions. 

Child-care was also highlighted as a barrier to work or seeking work, and similar to 
the transport concerns the response is thought to be similarly complex. While the 
group felt these two issues ought to be part of the approach, it also recognised that 
both issues need further exploration and consideration before featuring in the 
strategy and action plan.

Similarly the issue of zero hours contracts was of concern to the Group, though it 
was recognise that the Council has little influence in this respect with outside 
organisations.

The Group spent some time discussing the focus on those specific communities 
highlighted by much of the available data as having prevalent issues, often greater 
than the majority of the borough. Members of the Group were concerned that issues 
such as poverty affect rural residents as much as those living in towns, though 
possibly in different ways. The concerns are that the Council's approach ought to be 
deliverable across the borough to include all affected; this is obviously balanced by a 

Page 44



Overview and Scrutiny 7

recognition that larger numbers of those people experiencing problems are going to 
be found in the more densely populated urban areas.  

The Group considered the current information available to Councillors on the 
'myWard' link, and whether it would be useful to have more information on poverty 
issues in the area available to Councillors via this resource.

The Group thought the Council should consider adopting a 'social return on 
investment’ (SROI) approach to its work and partnerships with local organisations 
working to address poverty issues.

Page 45



Overview and Scrutiny 8

4. Recommendations

The Tackling Poverty Task and Finish Group have identified a number of specific 
changes and additional actions which have been built in to the draft Tackling Poverty 
Strategy and Action Plan as presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
are not listed individually here.  

The Task and Finish Group recommendations are therefore as follows:

 That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee agree that the revised Tackling 
Poverty Strategy November 2017 as presented to this meeting is accepted for 
recommendation to Executive.

 That the Council consults with local partners to ensure the proposed Strategy 
and Action Plan supports and complements their work, prior to being formally 
presented to Executive to be considered for adoption and implementation.

 That the Council gives priority to support and advice services for Allerdale 
residents.

 That future Council reports should include greater detail of intended or current 
partnership working and incorporate 'tackling poverty' as part of the report 
implications list, with details given in the body of the report.

These recommendations will be reported to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
on 15 December 2017.

5. Conclusion

The Tackling Poverty Task and Finish Group is the first of these established since 
the review. Its task was to review a draft strategy and make recommendations based 
on its findings. Having found the draft to be predominantly fit for purpose the Group 
has suggested some changes which are now incorporated into the revised draft 
strategy.

Through undertaking this work, the Group has also recorded some findings about the 
process and wants the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to consider the following 
recommendations:

 that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests detail for the delivery of 
strategies when approved, beginning with the Tackling Poverty Strategy, and 
the Committee should review these as parts of its work programme

 that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee examines how it receives feedback 
on its recommendations to Executive and Council

Page 46



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           1

Tackling Poverty 
 Strategy and action plan

2018 – 2020

                               “Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”
Page 47



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           2

Contents

1. Foreword

2. Introduction

3. Context

4. Our vision and objectives

5. Delivering and monitoring the strategy

Appendix 1: Action Plan
Appendix 2: Local context information
Appendix 3: Strategies and Plans linking to the Tackling Poverty Strategy 

Page 48



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           3

1. Foreword 

[to be agreed]

Page 49



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           4

2. Introduction
Since 2012 the Council has been committed to tackling poverty in Allerdale.  The Council 
developed its first Reducing Poverty Strategy in 2013, developed and written with the 
contributions of partners with experience of working with the poverty agenda.  The strategy 
was ambitious and delivered many exciting projects. 

The current Council Plan 2015-19 sets out the Council’s vision and priorities for Allerdale.  
It again identifies tackling inequality and poverty as one of those priorities and the Council 
has undertaken to develop an updated Tackling Poverty Strategy as part of the Delivery 
Plan for the Council Plan.

National predictions are that levels of poverty are set to rise.  Welfare reforms, reducing 
public sector expenditure and slow economic recovery are creating increasing hardship for 
many of our residents.  The impacts of these ongoing pressures have a disproportionately 
adverse impact on our residents who are already struggling financially.  These are people 
on low incomes, who may or may not be in employment, and particular groups such as 
disabled people for whom the impact of some of the welfare reforms is particularly marked.   

This Strategy describes the current picture of poverty and inequality in Allerdale along with 
our priorities for addressing poverty and inequality and the areas of activity that we will 
deliver. It also develops the leadership role of our Council, using our position and influence 
to ensure that all sectors and organisations work together on these issues. 

There are a range of causes and factors that contribute to poverty, many of which the 
Council cannot control directly. We recognise that we cannot tackle poverty on our own 
and that we need to work with our partners across the sectors to enable people to access 
the services and necessities they require, and support people who experience poverty – in 
this way we can reduce and mitigate poverty and inequality in Allerdale.  

In focusing on how best the Council can mitigate the effects of poverty (through acting as a 
leader, working in partnership, commissioning activity or delivering services) the strategy 
has been developed with four objectives:

 Addressing basic needs
 Creating pathways into local employment and improving employment options
 Supporting people to deal with money matters
 Improving information and co-ordination to better support communities

We aim to ensure this delivers for the people of Allerdale and makes a difference to their 
lives.  

Page 50



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           5

3. Context 

What is poverty?
Poverty comes in many shapes and forms and affects all areas of an individual’s life. In the 
UK today (and in most of Europe) poverty is a relative concept - ‘poor’ people being those 
who are considerably worse off than the majority of the population and whose living 
standards fall well below those enjoyed by the majority of the population. 

The Joseph Rowntree Foundation define poverty as:

‘When a person’s resources (mainly their material resources) are not sufficient to meet 
their minimum needs (including social participation).’

People living in poverty may experience multiple disadvantages through unemployment, 
low income, poor housing, inadequate health care and barriers to lifelong learning, culture, 
sport and recreation. They are often excluded and marginalised from participating in 
activities (economic, social and cultural) that are the norm for other people and their 
access to fundamental rights may be restricted. 

National context
Nationally, the current economic situation in the UK is placing financial pressures on 
already struggling families and communities, and predictions are that poverty will rise over 
the coming years.  

There is increasing pressure on low income families and individuals and it is well 
recognised that the effect of cuts in public spending are likely to impact disproportionately 
on those already living in poverty, on low incomes and often vulnerable.

Since the economic downturn in 2008 there has been a growing gap between incomes 
and the cost of living1.  As average household incomes reduce and pressures on the cost 
of living rise we are seeing increasing amounts of in-work poverty.  There have been other 
changes in who is most at risk of poverty compared with a decade ago. Nationally, there 
has been a big rise in poverty among young people and a fall among the over 75s and 
more people in poverty are now living in private rented housing [JRF].   

Whilst employment figures show signs of recovery and promise these figures mask an 
emerging increase in those facing in-work poverty.  We know that nationally 66% of 
children living in poverty are estimated to be in working families, and this is set to increase 
further by 20202.

1  CACI Paycheck data, 
http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/536/675/4356/41094151055.pdf
2  Resolution Foundation, http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/media/blog/how-do-we-tackle-britains-
huge-shifting-poverty-challenge/

Page 51

http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/536/675/4356/41094151055.pdf
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/media/blog/how-do-we-tackle-britains-huge-shifting-poverty-challenge/
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/media/blog/how-do-we-tackle-britains-huge-shifting-poverty-challenge/


Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           6

There is also a group within society who might be called ‘struggling’ and whilst not 
currently ‘in poverty’ are in a position that means they are at risk.  Debt and changes in job 
circumstances for example make a significant number of people very vulnerable to 
poverty.

Local context and challenges
Poverty is a real issue for many people living in Allerdale and has an impact on every 
aspect of their lives as well as society.  Looking at Allerdale as a whole compared to other 
areas in the country inequality and poverty do not appear significant issues.  However, 
there are clear inequalities between communities within the borough with some small 
areas experiencing considerable issues of poverty and inequality.  

Whilst parts of Allerdale have average household incomes and life expectancy above the 
national average other parts of the borough experience significant deprivation.  The 
highest rates of poverty and deprivation remain in the urban areas of central and south 
Workington and Maryport. However, poverty is often a more hidden issue that also affects 
Allerdale residents in rural areas, sometimes exacerbated by conditions associated with 
rural living.  

We know that: 

 The median gross weekly full time earning in Allerdale is £435.60 (compared with 
£488.80 regionally and £529.00 nationally) 

 14.4% of households in Allerdale had an annual income of less than £10,000 in 
2015 and this has risen from 8.7% in 2009

 Across the district, there are seven Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs3) in the 10% 
most deprived of areas in England

 16.7% of Allerdale’s children are living in poverty according to the latest figures 
(3,090 children).  The figures across the district vary considerably though, with four 
wards having levels of child poverty above 25%, the highest being 34.5%.

 In Allerdale, Foodbank usage shows an overall increasing trend from 2011 to 2016.

 11.4% of households in Allerdale are in fuel poverty, but again this varies 
significantly across the borough.

 22% of private sector dwellings in Allerdale fail to meet the Decent Homes 
Standard.

A more detailed analysis of the data can be found at Appendix 2.
Welfare Reform

3 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) were developed for the 2001 Census as small area geographical 
units. LSOAs have between 1,000 and 3,000 people living in them, with an average population of 1,500. 
There are 60 in Allerdale, 321 in Cumbria and 32,482 nationally.

Page 52



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           7

Universal Credit was introduced in parts of Allerdale in December 2014 and has been 
rolled out to many applicants with the full service being introduced to most of Allerdale in 
November 2016.  The new Benefit Cap is also being introduced simultaneously affecting 
an estimated 50-60 families in Allerdale.  As described in Appendix 2 the introduction of 
full service Universal Credit can now be seen to be impacting on the unemployment 
figures for Allerdale, and Foodbank figures show the primary causal factor for Foodbank 
usage appears to relate to receipt of benefits either in terms of delays to receiving benefits 
or changes to benefits.

There is a challenge for us in helping our residents to understand the changes and what 
they mean for them, and how the changes affect their entitlement.  There is likely to be an 
increase in demand for advice, guidance, and support services as claimants try to adapt to 
major changes to their benefits and evidence is emerging across Cumbria of increased 
demand for advice and guidance services as a result of reforms being introduced.  Support 
for financial planning could also play an important role in supporting people through the 
changes, for example, promoting usage of Credit Unions.

Health and wellbeing
It is well recognised that there is a relationship between lower incomes and poorer health 
and certainly within Allerdale there is correlation between the areas we can see to be the 
more deprived and those with poorer health outcomes.  

The relationship between health and income is complex in some cases such as with some 
unhealthy lifestyle behaviours (smoking and drinking, for example, which are more 
prevalent in poorer areas, but which are expensive), but can be more straightforward.  
Lower income can affect the goods and services that people can afford and therefore 
affect their health and conversely poor health may affect income by preventing people 
from taking paid employment.

The Council has a Health and Wellbeing Strategy that sets out our ambitions and activity 
in terms of addressing health and wellbeing issues and narrowing the health inequalities 
gap in Allerdale.   [See Appendix 3]

Page 53



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           8

4. Our vision and objectives
Since 2012 the Council has been committed to tackling poverty in Allerdale.  The current 
Council Plan 2015-19 sets out the Council’s vision and priorities for Allerdale.  It again 
identifies tackling inequality and poverty as one of those priorities. 

Council Plan priorities:

 Tackling inequality

 Strengthening our economy

 Enhancing our towns

 Improving health and wellbeing

 Creating a sustainable business

Our aim in terms of tackling inequality and poverty is: “to reduce poverty and support 
people facing financial difficulties”

Our objectives
To achieve our vision, we have identified four areas of activity that are needed. These four 
areas, set out as objectives below, address local needs as identified through our research 
and statistical analysis, and are also shaped by our Council’s priorities and national 
drivers. 

1. Addressing basic needs
2. Creating pathways into local employment and improving employment options
3. Supporting people to deal with money matters
4. Improving information and co-ordination to better support communities

We already have a number of plans and strategies that support the delivery of the vision 
and objectives in this strategy.  To ensure there is no duplication and that work is 
complementary the key plans and strategies are referenced in Appendix 1 and in the 
Action Plan.

Some of the activity outlined here will have immediate financial benefits (supporting those 
already experiencing poverty and inequality); some activity is about improving the longer 
term prospects of households of escaping from poverty; whilst other activity is about 
helping people to avoid falling into poverty by improving resilience and prospects.

The Local Context and Challenges section of this document clearly sets out the inequality 
across the district in a range of factors and the clear difficulties faced by some 
geographical areas and groups within our district.  To have the most impact and use our 
resources to best effect it is therefore important for us to target our efforts towards the 
more vulnerable people and deprived areas in Allerdale. This targeting of effort therefore 
runs through the Action Plan. 

Page 54



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           9

Tackling child poverty runs as a theme throughout this strategy – by addressing the 
growing problem of debt; raising aspirations of both the child and the parent; shaping 
services to address local needs; and encouraging people into decent paid 
employment as a route out of poverty.

Our principles
Our principles inform our decision making and have helped to shape this strategy.  As an 
organisation our overall goal is to deliver the best public services we possibly can and 
continue to work closely with residents, customers, partners, visitors and businesses to 
ensure we are improving lives. 
 
Our principles – inform our decision making:

 Strong community leadership

 Partnership and collaboration

 Clear priorities based on understanding and evidence

 Access and fairness

 Being flexible and responsive in the delivery of services

 Openness and transparency

Our approach
We know that no single action or even a series of actions will eradicate poverty. We fully 
recognise that our role is to work towards tackling the issues surrounding poverty and 
addressing peoples’ needs. 

To do this most effectively, we will deliver our work through three distinct approaches: 

 a leadership role – where we seek to work alongside and/or influence other 
organisations;

 direct delivery – where we do the work ourselves through existing services;
 a facilitator role – where we enable others through grants or investment. 

We will deliver actions which address immediate or short term needs, complemented by 
projects with outcomes which benefits needs over the medium to long term which may, for 
us, mean over several years, and we will support projects for which the outcomes may not 
be visible for a number of years.  

Page 55



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           10

Objective 1: Addressing basic needs

This objective recognises that for those experiencing poverty and inequality there are 
some basic immediate needs that take priority.  Put simply these are food, shelter and 
warmth.  The rise of Foodbank usage within Allerdale is a cause for concern and indicates 
that many households are not managing to make ends meet and we will therefore continue 
to support Foodbanks.

People living on a fixed income, such as benefits and pensions, are particularly vulnerable 
to fuel poverty where they have to use a high percentage of their income to heat their 
home.  The nature of Allerdale’s geography, housing stock and income levels means that 
fuel poverty remains a concern in some parts of the district.  We will therefore continue our 
efforts to tackle fuel poverty targeted towards those people where there is greatest need.   

There are ongoing concerns that the welfare reform changes may lead to increasing levels 
of homelessness.  The Council will continue to develop its preventative approach on 
homelessness issues providing information, advice, and guidance to tenants and landlords 
when tenants are likely to be evicted.  The Council will also continue to develop its 
relationship with private landlords offering advice and information to ensure decent 
standards.  The newly adopted Housing and Homelessness Strategy sets out the 
Council’s approach to addressing homelessness and work on decent homes standards in 
more detail.  

We will achieve this objective by:
 Continued support to food banks and other food initiatives to respond to food 

poverty crises
 Providing advice and support around energy efficiency and to encourage people to 

switch to a cheaper energy provider
 Providing advice and support to householders and landlords
 Working to prevent and reduce homelessness

We have a range of activity already taking place that connects to this aim. Examples 
include:

 Support to Foodbank with collection points in Council offices, provision of collection 
bins, support with campaigns and assisting with a move to more suitable 
accommodation

 Providing Discretionary Housing Payments to support people through financial 
difficulties and crises 

 Allerdale Big Switch in place for fuel switching and saving money on energy. 
 Work on fuel poverty for example the Central Heating fund delivered in 2016/17
 Housing options team provide information, advice, and guidance to householders 

and landlords when tenants are likely to be evicted
 Work with private landlords on introduction of Universal Credit

Page 56



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           11

Objective 2: Creating pathways into local employment 
and improving employment options

Our efforts will be focussed around making sure that residents are aware of and able to 
access services to support them into work and training opportunities.  Given increasing 
levels of in-work poverty, simply getting a job is not necessarily a straightforward route out 
of poverty. Wage levels and the extent of hours worked are crucial factors in escaping 
from low income, it is therefore important to focus on improving the offer in terms of higher 
paid employment. 

We also need to focus on our young people and the educational opportunities available to 
them – pathways into employment start with education.  National research tells us that 
those with a low level of education are almost five times as likely to live in poverty as an 
adult as those with a high level of education.  The Council can take an influencing role in 
terms of improving the educational offer in our area.  We can also consider opportunities to 
support young people into work.

Our Business Growth Strategy4 identifies the challenges and opportunities facing Allerdale 
in terms of employment and business growth and has a detailed action plan that will 
ensure that there are better skills development and employment opportunities for people 
across Allerdale.  Other activity complementary to that plan is detailed in the Action Plan.

Major European funded programmes are currently being commissioned by Cumbria LEP 
for their European Structural and Investment Funds Programme.  Three of these cover: 
‘Improving access to employment for priority groups of job seekers in West Cumbria and 
Barrow’; ‘Reducing barriers to employment for the hardest-to-reach excluded groups’ 
(again targeted in West Cumbria); ‘Improve skills levels and qualifications of unemployed 
people’ and ‘Increase skill levels in the workforce’5.  These programmes are focussing 
resources on supporting the most disadvantaged people in our communities to re-enter the 
job market.  The Council will need to take a leadership role through the LEP to ensure 
effective delivery of these significant programmes for the benefit of Allerdale residents 
within our key wards.

As an employer we already pay the Living Wage to our employees and are currently 
working towards gaining Living Wage accreditation.  We can also use our leadership 
position to influence others, encouraging other local employers to understand the benefits 
of paying staff the Living Wage.  

We will achieve this objective by:
 Supporting people on low incomes to access training to build skills and confidence
 Increasing the opportunities for training and employment
 Supporting young people into training or employment
 Continuing to pay the Living Wage and encouraging other employers to do the 

same
 

4  Further details at Appendix 1 
5  Further details of the relevant LEP ESIF programmes are given at Appendix 1

Page 57



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           12

We have a range of activity already taking place that connects to this aim. Examples 
include:

 Running a Council apprenticeship scheme and paying the Living Wage to those 
apprentices

 Supporting external apprenticeships (10 supported in 2016)
 Support for skills and employment schemes and projects such as the Dream 

Scheme 
 Supporting business growth through economic growth funding, initiatives and 

programmes and town centre support

Page 58



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           13

Objective 3: Supporting people to deal with money 
matters

This objective recognises that anyone can find themselves financially excluded and that 
due to the economic downturn many people are struggling financially.  Debt and changes 
in job circumstances can make people very vulnerable to poverty.  Changes in benefits will 
further impact those that are in receipt of them.  

National research by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation and others shows that people who 
live on a low income (whether in or out of work) cannot as readily access financial 
products such as bank accounts, home contents insurance and low cost loans. Difficulty 
accessing and using financial services and products can cause social isolation. The most 
vulnerable in society do not have the ability to access affordable finance and often rely on 
high street high cost pay weekly financial arrangements or high interest online loan 
companies that offer immediate cash as they seem to be the only solution. People unable 
to access mainstream financial services risk missing out on savings and discounts.  It is 
therefore important to increase basic knowledge of financial services and raise financial 
awareness. 

We will work with partners to make sure that residents have access to advice, information 
and affordable credit and have (or have access to) the skills and understanding to make 
informed decisions about their finances and purchases.   We will also closely monitor the 
changes to the benefits system to ensure that people are claiming all they are entitled to 
and we will work with the Department of Work and Pensions to address any problems.

We will achieve this objective by:
 Providing advice, advocacy and support around debt advice, financial capability and 

legal matters
 Promoting safe sources of credit 
 Proactive work on benefits payments and support
 Building on existing good practice with private landlords around debt advice and 

support to tenants

We have a range of activity already taking place that connects to this aim. Examples 
include:

 Financial support to advice and advocacy services
 Promoting fair finance – the Council signed up to the Fair Finance Pledge in 2016
 Support for West Cumbria Credit Union to promote safe credit sources and reduce 

the need for expensive high street lenders and legal loan sharks
 Personal Budgeting Support being offered to Universal Credit claimants 
 Credit Union payroll deduction scheme introduced for Council employees

Page 59



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           14

Objective 4: Improving information and co-ordination to 
better support communities

Whilst we cannot change government policy or macro-economic conditions, it is important 
that we seek to provide the best possible, coherent, local response in order to support 
Allerdale’s residents.  This includes using what resources we do have available to gain 
maximum impact and working together in partnership.

Tackling poverty is not only an issue for the Council and statutory partners to address.  
The voluntary, community and faith sectors are at the front line providing help, advice and 
support directly to those in need.  It was apparent from discussions with partners in 
developing this strategy that more could be done to better co-ordinate what we were all 
doing to tackle poverty, especially as public funding becomes even scarcer.

Effective intervention and prevention services clearly play a vital role in determining 
positive outcomes for people experiencing poverty and helping people escape from 
poverty so it is important that people understand what support they can expect from 
different agencies and how to access that support.  Those agencies must all be clear 
about what support is available and be able to signpost/refer effectively to ensure good 
and appropriate supportive referrals between agencies. 

As a Council we can do more to co-ordinate our own services and ensure we are 
considering poverty as we plan our services.  We can also support elected members in 
directing people to services that can help the communities they represent.  And we can 
liaise with and try to influence the private sector, for example employers, as set out in 
Objective 2 above.

We will achieve this objective by:
 Ensuring that our information and services are easy to access
 Improving the Council’s preventative approach
 Improving signposting/referrals between partners
 Supporting initiatives that build community resilience and capacity 
 Improving coordination between partners 

We have a range of activity already taking place that connects to this aim. Examples 
include:

 Financial support to third sector capacity building and training events
 Current work with advice agencies and community groups to raise awareness and 

offer training
 Introduction of the NELLbooker inter-agency referral system 
 Improving signposting for Council customers to other agencies 

Page 60



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           15

5. Delivering and monitoring the strategy

Our Approach

Our strategy and action plan were developed with the input of partners. A vast amount of 
work already takes place amongst statutory and voluntary sector organisations to tackle 
and respond to poverty and inequality. A workshop held in September 2016 brought 
together key local agencies and partners to identify what more we could do together to 
tackle poverty and inequality.  Additional conversations with partners have also helped to 
shape the strategy.

Whilst we cannot change government policy or macro-economic conditions, it is important 
that we seek to provide the best possible, coherent, local response in order to support 
Allerdale’s residents.  This includes providing more opportunities for local people to benefit 
from a strong local economy, issuing what resources we do have available to gain 
maximum impact and working together in partnership.

In working to tackle poverty and inequality the Council has different roles and these are 
reflected in the action plan.  In some cases the Council will be directly delivering services 
that can benefit individuals or families in need, for example homelessness services or 
benefits advice.  In others, the Council’s role will be as a facilitator or enabler through 
commissioning work or using grants to invest in local communities and organisations that 
supports people facing financial difficulties.  Importantly, the Council also has a leadership 
role – it can raise issues and influence public policy either as an organisation or through 
elected members acting as individuals to influence issues for example by using the 
Council’s processes available to Councillors.  Finally, it can take a co-ordinating role to 
encourage partners to work together to find local solutions to issues.   

The action plan contains short and medium term actions taking into account the resources 
we have available. Some of our actions are about scoping and exploring ideas further, but 
other actions are about existing services and provision and making sure that we work 
together effectively.  We have included examples of current activity that contribute to our 
aims and approach in addressing poverty issues. This is not an exhaustive list.

Monitoring and reporting on the Strategy

We will monitor progress against the action plan on a quarterly basis and we will continue 
to monitor the overall impact of poverty in Allerdale through collecting a range of 
information such as: 

 New jobs created
 New businesses created
 Numbers of children in poverty
 Numbers of workless households
 Median gross weekly full time earnings
 Information about people using food banks
 Benefit recipients 
 Advice agency usage

Page 61



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           16

Appendix 1: Action Plan 

Objective 1: Addressing immediate needs

 Continued support to food banks and other food initiatives to respond to food 
poverty crises

 Providing advice and support around energy efficiency and to encourage people to 
switch to a cheaper energy provider

 Working to prevent and reduce homelessness

Ref Actions Council role
1.1 Ensure those in current and urgent need have 

access to essential supplies. This will include:
 Continuing to work with and support 

Foodbank
 Develop a scheme to provide meals for 

children eligible for free school meals 
during school holidays (either contribution 
to existing Foodbank school holiday food 
pack scheme or development with a 
partner such as Foodbank of hot meal 
provision)

 Explore options to support those in need 
with fuel vouchers

 Support local groups and communities 
wishing to access food supply initiatives 
such as FareShare

Facilitating through 
investment/
commissioning

1.2 Support healthy eating/ food growing initiatives, 
supporting activities such as demonstrations and 
training sessions

Facilitating through 
investment/
commissioning

1.3 Run the Big Allerdale Switch three times a year 
and undertake more targeted work to ensure 
those most in need can access the scheme e.g. 
targeting towards those on pre-payment meters 

Direct delivery

1.4 Require Big Switch bidding companies to state 
how they will provide support for those on pre-
payment meters

Leadership / commissioning

1.5 Deliver Safe and Warm Grants targeted to 
vulnerable or low income households

Direct delivery

1.6 Deliver crisis support Discretionary Housing 
payments, targeted to the most vulnerable

Direct delivery

1.7 Monitor adherence to Energy Suppliers 
Obligation

1.8 Increase the availability of affordable housing 
through support for Community Land Trusts

Direct delivery

Page 62



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           17

1.9 Undertake work to reduce or prevent 
homelessness including early preventative work 
and reviewing temporary homeless 
accommodation to ensure resource matches 
demand

Direct delivery / 
Collaboration

1.10 Explore potential partnership working with 
organisations to support those in crisis need or 
with issues from alcohol or drugs misuse 

Facilitating through 
investment/
commissioning 

1.11 Train Council staff to support those in urgent 
need to access information, provisions and 
goods

Facilitating through 
investment/
commissioning

1.12 Further promote the Council’s support available 
in local areas, ensuring it is readily and easily 
accessible

Direct delivery

Page 63



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           18

Objective 2: Creating pathways into local employment and 
improving employment opportunities

 Supporting people on low incomes to access training to build skills and confidence
 Increasing the opportunities for training and employment
 Supporting young people into training or employment
 Continuing to pay the Living Wage and encouraging other employers to do the 

same

Ref Actions Council role
2.1 Develop a more targeted approach to 

apprenticeships (internal and external)
Direct delivery/ Facilitating 
through investment/
commissioning

2.2 Monitor and support the implementation of ESF 
funded skills and training programmes to 
improve access to employment with focus on 
young people and individuals across the borough 
in Allerdale, identify gaps in provision and 
develop targeted initiatives to fill those gaps in 
key wards.  This will include projects such as… 

 Traineeship scheme for young people 
 Services to support people needing basic 

skills training
 Mentoring programme for people looking 

for work – working with local businesses 
to provide mentors

 Schemes to build personal confidence 
and aspiration

 Addressing barriers to employment or 
training, for example transport issues or 
health issues (including working with 
partner organisations to support those in 
crisis need or with issues from alcohol or 
drugs misuse)

Leadership

2.3 Work with partners to ensure that there is a 
network of support for young people to enhance 
their employability (Business Growth Strategy)

Facilitating through 
investment/
commissioning / Leadership

2.4 Work with local businesses and employment 
support/education providers to identify skill 
shortages or gaps alongside potential skill 
enhancement opportunities

Leadership / 
Facilitating through 
investment/
commissioning 

2.5 Promote the benefits of paying the Living Wage 
to local employers utilising local and national 
campaigns

Leadership

2.6 Use social value in procurement practices to 
promote local employment, living standards and 
social benefits 

Direct delivery/ Leadership

Page 64



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           19

Objective 3: Supporting people to deal with money 
matters

 Providing advice, advocacy and support around debt advice, financial capability and 
legal matters

 Promoting safe sources of credit 
 Proactive work on benefits payments and support
 Building on existing good practice with private landlords around debt advice and 

support to tenants

Ref Actions Council role
3.1 Support West Cumbria Credit Union and other 

safe sources of credit
Facilitating through investment/
commissioning

3.2 Continue to invest in advice and advocacy 
services to:

 support vulnerable people with financial 
issues – including ensuring access to 
specialist advice for employment, 
benefits and housing support cases

 support disabled people to access 
benefits and understand welfare reform 
changes 

 support our residents through the 
transitions in welfare benefits 

Facilitating through investment/
commissioning

3.3 Promote benefits advice and undertake 
targeted campaigns to ensure residents, in 
particular pensioners, are claiming what they 
are entitled to, including the Allerdale Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme

Direct delivery

3.4 Raising awareness of where to go for help for 
those struggling with debt

Leadership

Page 65



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           20

Objective 4: Improving information and co-ordination to 
better support communities

 Supporting initiatives that build community resilience and capacity 
 Improving the Council’s preventative approach
 Improving signposting/referrals between partners
 Ensuring that our information and services are easy to access 
 Improving coordination between partners 

Ref Actions Council role
4.1 Create small grants fund to enable community 

and voluntary sector groups to apply for 
funding for projects that support this Strategy’s 
objectives 

Facilitating through investment/
commissioning

4.2 Improve preventative approach (Improving 
lives agenda) including:

• undertaking awareness raising for staff 
and councillors

• implement/embed impact assessment 
to ensure that Council considers 
poverty and inequality impacts in policy 
and service decisions

Leadership/ 
Direct delivery

4.3 Improve availability and access to Council 
information and services 

Direct delivery

4.4 Develop a regular forum for partners to share 
knowledge and information about activity, 
supported by developing a plan to create a 
web based forum for partners to better co-
ordinate efforts and avoid duplication

Leadership/
Facilitation

4.5 Continue to work with and support networks 
and partnerships which complement the aims 
of this strategy, for example West Cumbria 
Child Poverty Forum.

Leadership/
Facilitation

Page 66



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           21

Appendix 2: Local context information 

Pockets of significant deprivation 
The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is based upon seven domains of deprivation: 
income, employment, health and disability, education skills and training, barriers to 
housing and services, living environment and crime. These are weighted and combined to 
create the overall IMD.

Overall Allerdale’s ranking in the Indices of Multiple Deprivation is 115 out of 326 local 
authorities.  However, this figure masks significant differences at a more local level with 
some considerable areas of deprivation.  There are seven areas in the 10% most deprived 
in England.  Across the district, there are seven Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in the 
10% most deprived of areas in England (Figure 1).

When deprivation scores are combined for all LSOAs in Allerdale, the district is classified 
as the third most deprived district in Cumbria for overall deprivation. It falls within the 30% 
most deprived nationally in terms of Employment deprivation and Living Environment.

Figure 1: Allerdale’s LSOAs that rank within the 10% most deprived in England

LSOA 
code

LSOA descriptor Ward Overall ID 
Score (higher 
= more 
deprived)

Overall ID 
Rank (out of 
32,844 
nationally)

E01019097 Ewanrigg estate Ewanrigg 61.34 804

E01019113 Frostoms & Westfield North Moss Bay 60.51 890

E01019112 High Salterbeck & Brierydale Moss Bay 50.637 2,112

E01019095 Ellenborough Ellenborough 49.938 2,232

E01019111 Low Salterbeck & Westfield 
South Moss Bay 49.258 2,356

E01019122 Northside, Marsh, and Town 
Green St. Michael's 47.169 2,753

E01019121 Senhouse & Finkle St. St. Michael's 45.432 3,099

Page 67



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           22

Figure 2: Index of Multiple Deprivation, LSOAs by overall deprivation decile

Source: Cumbria Intelligence Observatory

Low income families

There is no single indicator that captures the true meaning of low income, but average 
household income data can provide an indication.  The trend over time has been that of 
falling average household income and a growth of low income households in Allerdale 
which reflects national and countywide trends.  

Average household income in Allerdale is similar to the county average and a little below 
the national average; however, there are significant variations in average income levels 
across wards from £17,000 to £37,400.  

Page 68



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           23

Data shows that 14.4% of households had an annual income of less than £10,000 in 
2015 which has risen from 8.7% since 2009.  This figure is higher in 10 wards with 
the highest being Moss Bay with 24.2% of households having income lower than 
£10,000. 

Those on a low income or living in poverty often have to pay a premium for services 
such as utilities, insurance, credit for goods from a high interest lenders, cheque 
cashing services and pawnbrokers.  Those on prepayment meters can find that they 
pay extra on their utilities compared to those on direct debits.   

Figure 3: Household Income

Allerdale Cumbria National

Mean Household Income £31,150 £31,792 £36,447

Median Household Income £24,624 £25,332 £28,696

Number of households with an annual 
median income of less than £10k 6,115 30,810 -

% of households with an annual median 
income of less than £10k 14.4% 13.8% 12.2%

Source: CACI, Paycheck Data, 2015 

Low wage economy
Overall, Allerdale’s unemployment rates are in line with national and regional averages, 
but as the graph below shows employees in Allerdale tend to be paid lower wages than 
nationally or regionally.  This is mainly due to the fact that Allerdale has a higher proportion 
of jobs in lower paid sectors such as retail, tourism and the public sector. 

The average gross weekly pay for full time workers living in Allerdale for 2015 was 
£435.606. This was still below both the regional average of £488.80 per week and national 
average of £529.00 per week.  The table above shows that average earnings for residents 
in Allerdale have been consistently below the regional and national (GB) averages.  The 
difference between average gross weekly pay for full time male and female workers is 
marked in Allerdale, as it is regionally and nationally, being £484.30 and £380.10 
respectively.

Figure 4: Gross weekly pay, full time workers 2015 

6  Nomis, ONS Annual survey of hours and earnings 

Page 69



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           24

Source: ONS annual survey of hours and earning – resident analysis. Note: median earnings in pounds for 
employees living in the area

Mixed picture of unemployment 
In terms of the proportion of people who receive unemployment benefits, the rate for 
Allerdale is higher than the national rate and that of Cumbria.  Between October 2016 and 
October 2017, Allerdale’s claimant rate appears to have risen by 0.7 compared to a rise of 
0.17.  

Figure 5: Unemployment rates 2014-2017

Source: ONS/DWP (Cumbria Observatory graph)

7  Office for National Statistics

Page 70



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           25

However, the introduction of full service Universal Credit is affecting unemployment figures 
in Allerdale.8  The graph shows claimant rates for JSA and out of work UC claimants and 
demonstrates this effect - rates in Allerdale and Copeland appear to have been rising 
since October 2016 whilst other areas of Cumbria have remained at a more constant level.  
The introduction of Universal Credit is particularly affecting figures for Allerdale and 
Copeland where full service UC has been implemented at Workington and Whitehaven 
Job Centres.  

The majority of wards have a claimant rate less than the Allerdale rate, but there are 
pockets of higher levels of unemployment, in particular in the deprived, urban areas of 
Allerdale. There are 7 wards with a claimant rate of more than 2.5, being Clifton, 
Ellenborough, Ewanrigg, Flimby, Moorclose, Moss Bay, Netherhall, and St. Michael’s.9

Those aged 18-24 years currently represent approximately 20% of all claimants in Allerdale. 
The claimant rate for people aged 18-24 in Allerdale has been consistently above that for 
Cumbria over the last three years, although does show a gradually declining trend until 2017 
where the rate has started to increase.  Allerdale’s unemployment rate for this age group rate 
at 4.9 is currently above Cumbria (3.2) and UK (3.5) rates, but again is likely to have been 
disproportionately affected by the introduction of full service Universal Credit.

Low qualification levels in some areas

Qualification levels for the district as a whole are broadly in line with regional and national 
averages.  The percentage of the population with no qualifications is below that of the 
national level10. However, there are variations across the district, two wards having over a 
third of the working age population with no qualifications. The wards with higher levels of 
those with no qualifications can be seen to be in Workington and Maryport with Moss Bay 
(Workington) and Ewanrigg (Maryport) above 30%. 

Lower educational attainment increases the risk that poverty will be passed down from one 
generation to the next.  Those with a low level of education are almost five times as likely 
to live in poverty as an adult as those with a high level of education.[JRF]  

Anecdotal evidence from partners in Allerdale suggests that there is an issue with basic 
numeracy and literacy skills, although this has proved difficult to quantify.  Nationally we 
know that an estimated 5 million adults lack core numeracy and literacy skills and 12.6 
million lack basic digital skills [JRF].  

Child poverty
Poverty can have a profound impact on children, their families and the rest of society. It 
can set in motion a deepening spiral of social exclusion, creating problems in education, 
employment, mental and physical health and social interaction.

8  ONS data note - Under Universal Credit a broader span of claimants are required to look for work than 
under Jobseeker's Allowance. As Universal Credit Full Service is rolled out in particular areas, the number of 
people recorded as being on the Claimant Count is therefore likely to rise.

9   Cumbria Intelligence Observatory Labour Market Briefing October 2017
10  Nomis Official Labour Market Statistics

Page 71



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           26

The latest government data available shows that 16.7% of children (0-19 years) in 
Allerdale are living in poverty11.  This is below national levels of 19.9% for England, 
however, the picture for Allerdale as a whole disguises significant inequalities in levels of 
child poverty within the district.  

Figure 6: Child Poverty (Children in low income families local measure)

Source: Department for Work and Pensions (Children in low-income families - local measure)

There is a wide geographic variation in levels of child poverty across the district’s wards 
from a high of 34.5% in Moss Bay to just 2.9% in Stainburn. 9 of Allerdale’s 31 wards have 
a higher percentage of children living in poverty than the Allerdale average. 8 of these 
have a higher percentage than the England average.  Figures for Allerdale’s wards show 
Ewanrigg, Moorclose, Moss Bay and St Michael’s as having levels of child poverty above 
25%, the highest being Moss Bay at 34.5% and Ewanrigg ward (33.4%) which are 
significantly higher than the Allerdale, Cumbria and England figures for 2014. 

Figure 7: Wards in Allerdale with proportions of child poverty greater than England, 2014 

Ward % of ALL Children in low-income families

Moss Bay 34.5% 
Ewanrigg 33.4% 
Moorclose 29.5% 
Ellenborough 24.9% 
St Michael's 25.2% 
Flimby 21.9% 
Silloth 21.2%
Holme 21.0%

Source: Department for Work and Pensions (Children in low-income families - local measure)

Areas with high levels of child poverty are predominantly in deprived urban areas; 
however, there are also pockets of poverty and deprivation in some of the most rural 
communities in Allerdale in areas around Aspatria, Wigton and Silloth. 

11  Department for Work and Pensions

Page 72



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           27

Between 2010 and 2013, levels of child poverty had fallen in the county and all districts 
following the national trend.  However, the figures rose again in 2014. As a relative 
measure this will be affected by a number of factors such as changes in the low income 
threshold and changes to benefit criteria as part of welfare reform.

Nationally 66% of children in poverty are in working families, this is set to increase further 
by 202012.

Pensioners in poverty
Allerdale has an older population profile than England and Wales and the population is 
‘ageing’ at a faster rate than the population nationally.  By 2037 33.3% of all residents are 
projected to be aged 65 and over.  

Nationally we know that 1.6 million (14%) pensioners in the UK live in poverty (that is with 
incomes below 60% of median household income after housing costs).  We also know that 
women are more likely to be in poverty than men, and older pensioners (especially those 
aged 85+), single people living alone and private tenants are at particular risk13. 

Figures show that Allerdale has 5 Lower Super Output areas that fall into the worst 20% 
nationally in terms of the Income Deprivation Affecting Older People measure14 and that 
these are in the South Workington and parts of Maryport, correlating with the more 
deprived areas of Allerdale. 14.6% of all households in Allerdale are lone pensioner 
households15.

National data also shows that nearly two out of five (38%) pensioners in Great Britain who 
are entitled to Pension Credit have not claimed it, with those who are entitled to, but not 
claiming, missing out on an average (mean) of £42 a week.  Around 1 in 7 (15%) 
pensioners in Great Britain who are entitled to Housing Benefit to help pay their rent have 
not claimed it, with those entitled to, but not claiming, missing out on an average (mean) of 
£56 a week16. 

Older people are at risk of fuel poverty due to lower incomes and are likely to spend long 
periods sitting at home which will increase their exposure to the cold if unable to heat their 
homes sufficiently.

Fuel poverty
Fuel poverty is a particular problem for vulnerable residents including pensioners and 
people with disabilities or long-term health problems. The rural nature of Allerdale further 
exacerbates the issue affecting fuel process and mains gas access.  

12  Resolution Foundation, http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/media/blog/how-do-we-tackle-britains-huge-
shifting-poverty-challenge/
13  Households below average income: An analysis of the UK income distribution: 1994/95-2014/15 DWP, 
2016. https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-199495-to-201415
14  Indices of Multiple Deprivation 2015
15  Census 2011
16  Income-related benefits: estimates of take-up: financial year 2014/15 (tables PC1, PC2, HB1, HB2), DWP 
2016 

Page 73

http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/media/blog/how-do-we-tackle-britains-huge-shifting-poverty-challenge/
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/media/blog/how-do-we-tackle-britains-huge-shifting-poverty-challenge/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-199495-to-201415


Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           28

The latest available figures show that 11.4% of households in Allerdale are in fuel poverty
17.  Looking across the district there is a wide variation in levels of fuel poverty. There are 
some higher levels of fuel poor households across the rural areas to the east and north of 
the district.  However, there are also higher levels of fuel poverty seen in our urban areas.   

Just over half of Allerdale’s Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) have proportions of fuel 
poor households above the national average (11.0%).  7 of Allerdale’s LSOAs have levels 
of fuel poverty above 15% (these are in the wards of Warnell, St. John’s, Boltons, St 
Michael’s, Moss Bay, Crummock and Holme).  The LSOA with the highest reported level of 
fuel poverty is in Warnell ward at 17.8%.  The LSOAs in Allerdale with higher fuel poverty 
levels are in a mixture of more affluent and more deprived areas demonstrating the fact 
that fuel poverty is influenced by a range of factors (fuel costs, property type and energy 
efficiency, household income, energy costs). 

Allerdale has a high proportion of pre-1919 hard to heat dwellings, many of these in our 
urban centres.  It is also estimated that around 8,800 dwellings in Allerdale are not 
connected to mains gas and are likely to be using a more expensive fuel type or simply not 
heating their homes at all. Fuel poverty therefore remains a concern within the district.  

Private rented accommodation
In line with the national picture Allerdale has seen an increase in private rented 
accommodation with the private rented sector proportion of housing stock rising from 9% 
in 2011 to 16% in 201618. Those on low incomes in the private rented sector lack the 
support network offered by landlords in the social rented sector and can be particularly 
vulnerable to income reduction potentially leading to homelessness.  Those on low 
incomes in the private rented sector can also be coping with substandard living conditions.  
Recent research has shown that privately rented dwellings in Allerdale show higher rates 
of non-decency (29.2%) than those which are owner occupied (20.3%)12. 

Rural poverty
Allerdale is predominantly rural in nature with 70%19 of Allerdale’s population classed as 
living in rural areas. Over a half of people living in low income households in Allerdale live 
in rural areas.  Poverty in rural areas is often difficult to identify, but poverty issues in rural 
areas tend to be magnified due to their rural nature.  The rural nature of the borough has a 
significant impact on accessing work and essential services including schools, post offices 
and doctors and residents are dependent on local services and public transport. National 
research shows that people in rural areas have additional costs because of these sorts of 
access issues.  
Food poverty and Foodbank usage
Foodbanks have grown out of an increasing need across the country.  In Allerdale, food 
bank usage shows an overall increasing trend from 2011 to 2016 with a peak in 201320. 
Estimates are that a fifth of low income families have to rely on Foodbanks at some point.   

17  Department of Energy and Climate change, 2016
18  Allerdale Private Sector House Condition Survey 2015/16
19  Census 2011
20 The North Lakes Foodbank 

Page 74



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           29

In Allerdale the largest number of Foodbank vouchers issued in 2016 were in the wards of 
St. Michaels, Moss Bay, Moorclose and St. Johns in Workington, Netherhall in Maryport 
and Wigton ward.  Figures for Allerdale suggest that the primary causal factor for 
Foodbank usage relates to receipt of benefits either in terms of delays to receiving benefits 
or changes to benefits accounting for 35% and 18% of crisis types in 2016 respectively19.  
There is therefore a challenge for us to do what we can to ensure that benefits are not 
delayed.  

Page 75



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           30

Appendix 3: Strategies and Plans linking to the 
Tackling Poverty Strategy

Strategy Time frame Link to Tackling Poverty Strategy
Allerdale Housing 
Strategy 
‘Improving Lives – 
Improving Housing’
[link]

2016 - 2021 This strategy sets out objectives and priorities for the 
provision of affordable housing, housing options for 
vulnerable and ageing population, raising standards 
in the private rented sector, improving housing stock 
quality, reducing numbers of empty homes, and 
reducing homelessness.

The following areas of activity are directly relevant to 
this strategy:

 Working with partners on winter warmth 
campaigns

 Supporting vulnerable people with housing 
options and healthier living choices

 Improving private rented sector standards
 Delivery of schemes to help fuel poor 

households
 Homeless prevention work

Allerdale Improving 
Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 

[link]

2015 - 2019 The Strategy sets out the Council’s approach to 
addressing health inequality issues in our area.  The 
strategy recognises that health is impacted by a 
wider range of determinants including good 
employment; higher educational attainment; safe, 
supported, connected communities; poor housing 
and homelessness; living on a low income; social 
isolation, exclusion and loneliness; stigma and 
discrimination.  Conversely poor health may affect 
income by preventing people from taking paid 
employment.
The following areas of activity are particularly 
relevant: 

 Ensuring access to high quality health care 
 Creating healthier communities by reducing 

health inequalities
 Improving health and wellbeing through access 

to leisure and cultural activities
 Ensuring access to suitable and safe homes
 Encouraging local businesses to take action 

that improves the health and wellbeing of their 
staff and customers

Allerdale Business 
Growth Strategy

[link]

2016 - 2021 The Strategy outlines the economic ambition for our 
area which is that:
“Allerdale will have a strong and diverse economy 
which builds on its existing comparative advantage in 
manufacturing and moves away from an overreliance 
on nuclear energy. It will capitalise on and promote 

Page 76



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           31

its credentials as a fantastic place to live for all 
people at all life stages to provide businesses with 
the talent pool they need to grow and compete.”

The following areas of activity are directly relevant:
 Increasing wider employment opportunities
 Investment in people and skills

Cumbria Local 
Enterprise 
Partnership 
Strategic Economic 
Plan

[link]

2014-2024 This 10-year Strategic Economic Plan outlines the 
economic ambition for Cumbria.  The Plan 
concentrates on four strategic priorities - Advanced 
manufacturing growth; Nuclear and energy 
excellence; Vibrant rural and visitor economy; and 
Strategic connectivity to the M6 corridor - with 
intervention through four economic drivers, of which 
Skills Development is particularly relevant to this 
strategy.

Cumbria Local 
Enterprise 
Partnership 
European Structural 
and Investment 
Fund Strategy

[link]

2014-2020 The Cumbria LEP European Structural and 
Investment Funds Strategy sets out a series of major 
programmes to improve Cumbria’s economy and 
support the ambitions in the Strategic Economic 
Plan.  Major European funded programmes are due 
to begin delivery from 2017 onwards, three of which 
cover pathways into employment, tackling poverty, 
and investing in skills and education.   These 
programmes are targeted at identified areas of need 
in Cumbria including West Cumbria.  The relevant 
programmes are:
TO8 – Improving access to employment for priority 
groups of job seekers in west Cumbria and Barrow.  
TO9 – reduce barriers to employment for the 
hardest-to-reach excluded groups.
TO10 – Improve skills levels and qualifications of 
unemployed people and increase skill levels in the 
workforce.
Both TO8 and TO9 are aimed at groups over-
represented in the workless particularly: long term 
unemployed, over 50s, those claiming ESA, lone 
parents, those with health related conditions and 
carers.

West Cumbria 
Community Safety 
Partnership Plan

The West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership 
Plan priorities for 2017-18 include: Violent Crime – 
managed through the Problem Solving Group, 
Pubwatch and statutory partners; Alcohol & 
Substance Misuse – managed through multi agency 
partnerships and will include a focus on New 
Psychoactive Substances; Domestic & Sexual 
Violence – actively supporting countywide work; 
Reducing Re-offending - maintaining the Integrated 
Offender Management program and encourage the 
use of restorative justice; Anti-Social Behaviour –
delivering positive projects to reduce offending and 
make use of current legislation.

Page 77



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           32

Page 78



Allerdale Borough Council – Executive Reports and Key Decisions

1 December 2017 to 30 November 2018

Decision Date decision to 
be made and 
decision maker

Open/
Exempt

Portfolio Holder Officer contact 
details

Initial 
recommendations

Treasury 
Management 
Operations – Mid-
year review 
2017/18

Key Decision

To inform members 
of the Council’s 
treasury 
management 
activities during the 
six month period 
ending 30th 
September 2017

Audit Committee 

27 November 2017 

Council

10 January 2018

Open Executive Member: 
Corporate 
Resources (Finance 
and Property) 
(Councillor Barbara 
Cannon)

Barry Lennox, 
Financial Services 
Manager

barry.lennox@allerd
ale.gov.uk

P
age 79

A
genda Item

 9



Calculation of 
Council Tax Base 
2018/19

Key Decision

The calculation of 
the council tax base 
for the whole district 
and for each parish 
and town council, 
for 2018/19.

Council

10 January 2018

Open Councillor Barbara 
Cannon

Catherine 
Nicholson, Head of 
Financial Services

catherine.nicholson
@allerdale.gov.uk

Museums’ 
Collections 
Disposals Policy

Key Decision

The Council’s 
museum collection 
policy is due for 
renewal. The 
original version was 
agreed in 2012, and 
on the request of 
the managing 
agents of the 
collection, it has 
been requested that 
the policy is 
amended. 

Council

10 January 2018

Open Rebecca Stamper, 
Sport Development 
Officer

rebecca.stamper@a
llerdale.gov.uk

It is recommended 
that the museum’s 
collection policy be 
amended 
accordingly.

P
age 80



Q2 Performance 
Report 2017/18

Non-Key Decision

A report detailing 
performance 
against the 
Corporate Business 
Plan 2017/18 at the 
end of Quarter 2 
2017/18

Executive

24 January 2018

Open Executive Member: 
Leader of the 
Council (Councillor 
Alan Smith)

Alex FitzGerald, 
Senior Policy and 
Improvement 
Officer

alex.fitzgerald@alle
rdale.gov.uk

That Members note 
the information 
contained within the 
report and take 
action to improve 
performance where 
necessary.

Quarter 3 Finance 
Report - October 
to December 2017

Non-Key Decision

This report informs 
members of the 
Council’s
financial 
performance 
against budget for 
the
period April to 
December 2017 
along with the
forecast position to 
31 March 2018.

Executive

21 February 2018

Open Councillor Barbara 
Cannon

Catherine 
Nicholson, Head of 
Financial Services

catherine.nicholson
@allerdale.gov.uk

That the contents of 
the report are 
noted.P

age 81



Local Code of 
Corporate 
Governance

Non-Key Decision

The Code is a 
public statement 
that sets out the 
way the Council will 
meet its obligations 
to provide an 
effective 
governance 
framework and 
represents a key 
component of the 
Council's 
constitutional 
arrangements.

Audit Committee 

12 February 2018 

Council

7 March 2018

Open Executive Member: 
Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Joan 
Ellis)

Brendan Carlin, 
Head of 
Governance and 
Monitoring Officer

brendan.carlin@alle
rdale.gov.uk

Adopt revised Local 
Code of Corporate 
Governance

P
age 82



Members' 
Allowances 
2018/19

Non-Key Decision

Councillors to agree 
a new Members' 
Allowances Scheme 
for 2018/19 
following 
recommendations 
from the 
Independent Panel 
for Councillors 
Allowances

Council

7 March 2018

Open Councillor Joan 
Ellis, Councillor 
Barbara Cannon

Kathryn Magnay, 
Temporary 
Democratic and 
Support Services 
Officer

kathryn.magnay@al
lerdale.gov.uk

That the report and 
recommendations 
of the Independent 
Panel for 
Councillors 
Allowances be 
endorsed

Council Tax 
Resolution Report 
2018/19

Key Decision

To approve the 
necessary 
resolutions for 
Council Tax setting 
in accordance with 
Sections 31 – 36 of 
the Local 
Government 
Finance Act 1992.

Council

7 March 2018

Open Councillor Barbara 
Cannon

Catherine 
Nicholson, Head of 
Financial Services

catherine.nicholson
@allerdale.gov.uk

That the resolutions 
be approved.

P
age 83



Q3 Performance 
Report 2017/18

Non-Key Decision

A report detailing 
performance 
against the 
Corporate Business 
Plan 2017/18 at the 
end of Quarter 3 
2017/18

Executive

21 March 2018

Open Executive Member: 
Leader of the 
Council (Councillor 
Alan Smith)

Alex FitzGerald, 
Senior Policy and 
Improvement 
Officer

alex.fitzgerald@alle
rdale.gov.uk

That Members note 
the information 
contained within the 
report and take 
action to improve 
performance where 
necessary.

Q4 Performance 
report 2017/18

Non-Key Decision

A report detailing 
performance 
against the 
Corporate Business 
Plan 2017/18 at the 
end of Quarter 4 
2017/18

Executive

13 June 2018

Open Executive Member: 
Leader of the 
Council (Councillor 
Alan Smith)

Alex FitzGerald, 
Senior Policy and 
Improvement 
Officer

alex.fitzgerald@alle
rdale.gov.uk

That Members note 
the information 
contained within the 
report and take 
action to improve 
performance where 
necessary.

P
age 84



Treasury 
Management 
Strategy, Annual 
Investment 
Strategy and 
Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy 
Statement 2018/19

Key Decision

To present the 
Treasury 
Management 
Strategy Statement, 
Annual Investment 
Strategy and 
Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy 
Statement

Audit Committee 

12 February 2018 

Council

7 March 2018

Open Councillor Barbara 
Cannon

Barry Lennox, 
Financial Services 
Manager

barry.lennox@allerd
ale.gov.uk

P
age 85



Draft Revenue & 
Capital Budget 
Proposals 2018/19

Key Decision

To seek approval 
for the revenue and 
capital budgets and 
to present the 
formal advice of the 
Chief Finance 
Officer on the 
robustness of 
estimates included 
in the budget and 
the adequacy of 
reserves which 
support the 
Council’s budgetary 
plans

Executive 

21 February 2018 

Council

7 March 2018

Open Executive Member: 
Corporate 
Resources (Finance 
and Property) 
(Councillor Barbara 
Cannon)

P
age 86



Revenue & Capital 
Outturns 2017/18

Key Decision

To inform members 
of the 
• revenue outturn 
for 2017/18 and 
make 
recommendations 
on budget carry 
forwards and 
transfers to and 
from reserves. 
• capital outturn 
position for 2917/18 
and to approve the 
carry-forward of 
capital resources to 
2018/19.

Executive

13 June 2018

Open Councillor Barbara 
Cannon

Catherine 
Nicholson, Head of 
Financial Services

catherine.nicholson
@allerdale.gov.uk

Statement of 
Accounts 2017/18

Non-Key Decision

To present 
members with the 
Statement of 
Accounts for 
consideration and 
approval

Audit Committee

27 July 2018

Open

P
age 87



Treasury 
Management 
Operation Annual 
Report 2017/18

Key Decision

To inform members 
of the performance 
of the Council’s 
treasury 
management 
activities for the 
year

Audit Committee 

20 August 2018 

Council

17 October 2018

Open Councillor Barbara 
Cannon

Barry Lennox, 
Financial Services 
Manager

barry.lennox@allerd
ale.gov.uk

Meetings of the Council, Executive and Scrutiny Committees are open to the public (except when exempt (confidential) items are 
being considered).  It is advisable to check the agenda before attending a meeting, as decision dates may be subject to change.  
Agendas and supporting documents for meetings of the Executive can be found on the Council’s website www.allerdale.gov.uk or 
at Allerdale House, Workington, Cumbria, CA14 3YJ

Further information is available by calling 01900 702502

Any representations as to why a meeting should be open to the public should be made in writing to Democratic Services at the 
above address.

A list of the Executive members can be found at http://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=11

P
age 88

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/
http://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=11


Last updated: 05/12/17

Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 2017-18 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Meetings

Meeting 
Date 

Items Council Plan 
Theme/Theme 

Further 
Information 

Lead Officer Lead Portfolio 
Holder  

Lead Scrutiny 
Member 

Forward Plan Governance Standing Item Head of 
Governance 

Leader of the 
Council 

Co-Chairs of the 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee  

Tackling Poverty TFG – 
Final Report (and 
conclusion of Task and 
Finish Group) 

Tackling Inequality 

Strengthening Our 
Economy

Improving Health 
and Wellbeing

To consider the 
final TFG report and 
revised draft 
strategy, and agree 
recommendations 

Leader of the 
Council

Chair of the Task 
and Finish Group

Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Tackling Inequality 

Strengthening Our 
Economy

Improving Health 
and Wellbeing

Pre-Scrutiny of 
policy in 
development

Executive 
Member for 
Housing, Health 
and Wellbeing

Co-Chairs of the 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee  

15 
December 
2017

Work Programme 
Update and Review

Governance Standing Item Head of 
Governance

Co-Chairs of the 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 

P
age 89

A
genda Item

 11



Last updated: 05/12/17

Meeting 
Date 

Items Council Plan 
Theme/Theme 

Further 
Information 

Lead Officer Lead Portfolio 
Holder  

Lead Scrutiny 
Member 

Committee  
Task and Finish Group 
Updates 

Governance To receive progress 
reports from Task 
and Finish Groups

Scrutiny and Policy 
Officer 

Chairs of the Task 
and Finish Groups

Forward Plan Governance Standing  Item 
Head of 
Governance 

Leader of the 
Council 

Co-Chairs of the 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee  

Budget setting process 
2018-19 – TFG report 

Creating a 
sustainable 
business 

To consider the TFG 
report and agree 
any 
recommendations 
on the budget 
setting process for 
2018-19 

Head of Financial 
Services 

Executive 
Member for 
Corporate 
Resources 

Chair of the Task 
and Finish Group

26 January 
2018

Scrutiny of delivery of 
the Customer Access 
Strategy 

Creating a 
sustainable 
business 

Questions and 
answers to the 
Portfolio Holder 
and Officers on 
delivery of themes 
outlined in the 
Customer Access 
Strategy

Head of Customer, 
Transformation and 
Commissioning

Executive 
Member for 
Transformation 

Co-Chairs of the 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee  

P
age 90



Last updated: 05/12/17

Meeting 
Date 

Items Council Plan 
Theme/Theme 

Further 
Information 

Lead Officer Lead Portfolio 
Holder  

Lead Scrutiny 
Member 

Work Programme 
Update 

Governance Standing Item Scrutiny and Policy 
Officer 

Co-Chairs of the 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Task and Finish Group 
Updates 

Governance To receive progress 
reports from Task 
and Finish Group 

Scrutiny and Policy 
Officer 

Chairs of the Task 
and Finish Groups

Forward Plan Governance Standing Item Head of 
Governance

Leader of the 
Council 

Work Programme 
Update 

Governance Standing Item Scrutiny and Policy 
Officer

Co-Chairs of the 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee

9 March 
2018

Task and Finish Group  
Updates 

Governance To receive progress 
reports from any 
Task and Finish 
Group

Scrutiny and Policy 
Officer 

Chairs of the Task 
and Finish Groups

20 April 
2018 

Forward Plan Governance Standing Item Head of 
Governance 

Leader of the 
Council 

P
age 91



Last updated: 05/12/17

Meeting 
Date 

Items Council Plan 
Theme/Theme 

Further 
Information 

Lead Officer Lead Portfolio 
Holder  

Lead Scrutiny 
Member 

Work Programme 
Updates 

Governance Standing Item Scrutiny and Policy 
Officer 

Co-Chairs of the 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Task and Finish Group 
Updates 

Governance To receive progress 
reports from any 
Task and Finish 
Group

Scrutiny and Policy 
Officer 

Chairs of the Task 
and Finish Groups

Forward Plan Governance Standing Item Head of 
Governance 

Leader of the 
Council 

Grounds Maintenance 
Contract Scrutiny – Final 
Report (and conclusion 
of Task and Finish 
Group) 

Creating a 
sustainable 
business

Enhancing our 
Towns 

Improving Health 
and Wellbeing

Pre-Scrutiny of final 
proposals before 
Executive decision

Head of Community 
Services

Executive 
Member for 
Locality and 
Environmental 
Quality

Chair of the Task 
and Finish Group

1 June 2018 

Work Programme 
Updates 

Governance Standing Item Scrutiny and Policy 
Officer 

Co-Chairs of the 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee

P
age 92



Last updated: 05/12/17

Meeting 
Date 

Items Council Plan 
Theme/Theme 

Further 
Information 

Lead Officer Lead Portfolio 
Holder  

Lead Scrutiny 
Member 

Task and Finish Group 
Updates 

Governance To receive progress 
reports from any 
Task and Finish 
Group

Scrutiny and Policy 
Officer 

Chairs of the Task 
and Finish Groups

Forward Plan Governance Standing Item Head of 
Governance 

Leader of the 
Council 

Work Programme 
Updates 

Governance Standing Item Scrutiny and Policy 
Officer 

Co-Chairs of the 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee

13 July 2018 

Task and Finish Group 
Updates 

Governance To receive progress 
reports from any 
Task and Finish 
Group

Scrutiny and Policy 
Officer 

Chairs of the Task 
and Finish Groups

Proposed Task and Finish Group/Reviews 

Topic Estimated Start date Further Information 
1 Community Services Business 

Model 
August 2017 Scrutiny of new contract. Group to meet from August 2017 to 

April 2018

2 European Social Fund (ESF) January 2018
Scrutiny of how the ESF contracts are being delivered in Allerdale 
and Cumbria and identify any barriers to delivery (alternatively 

P
age 93



Last updated: 05/12/17

this could be in Committee). 

3 Enforcement Policy Review To be confirmed 
Review of the Council’s Corporate Enforcement Policy and its 
application across Council services 

Possible topics for future scrutiny: training provision in Allerdale (if not through task and finish group); further objectives of the Housing 
Strategy; health issues and members’ tablet devices. This list needs to be reviewed and updated.

P
age 94


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Housing Enforcement Policy
	Appendix 1 for Housing Enforcement Policy

	8 Report of Tackling Poverty Task and Finish Group
	Report of Tackling Poverty TFG November 2017.docx
	Tackling Poverty Strategy

	9 Forward Plan
	11 Work programme

